PLANT AND MICROBE INTERACTIONS IN THE PHYTOREMEDIATION OF HEAVY METAL CONTAMINATED SOILS

by

MEHMET MERİÇ TUNALI

BS. in Environmental Engineering, Istanbul University, 2011

Submitted to the Institute of Environmental Sciences in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Environmental Sciences

Boğaziçi University

2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis supervisor Prof. Dr. Turgut T. ONAY for his guidance, support and encouragement during this thesis project and my master education. It was a great honor for me to work with him.

I am very grateful to Dr. Mohammed Ali KHALVATI for his guidance, contribution and friendship throughout this study. It was a pleasure to work with him.

I would like to express my gratitude to the jury members; Prof. Dr. Turgut T. ONAY, Prof. Dr. Bahar INCE, and Dr. M.Ali KHALVATI for their time and valuable suggestions.

I thank Assoc. Prof. Raşit BİLGİN and Asst. Prof. Berat Z. HAZNEDAROĞLU for their input regarding the format of the thesis. I express my acknowledgment to Ms. Filiz AYILMAZ for her contribution on laboratory analysis related to this thesis.

I would like to thank the Boğaziçi University Research Fund for supporting this project; Grant Number: 9541.

I am grateful to my colleagues and friends; from whom I received very important contributions; Mr. Amin FOROOHANDEH, Mr. Sinan KILIÇASLAN, and Mr. Bahadır ERDEM. My sincere gratitude goes to Ms. Gülsüme KÜLÇE and Mr. Aydın MAMMADOV for their friendship and support.

I would also like to thank Antonio L. VIVALDI, whom had helped me finding serenity through his compositions.

Finally, my special appreciation to my beloved family for their everlasting support. My parents; Nurşen TUNALI, and Sencer TUNALI for both their invaluable moral, technical, and financial support, also my sister and colleague MSc. Merve TUNALI for her guidance and accompany. Without them, I would not have chosen the profession and concluded this thesis.

PLANT AND MICROBE INTERACTIONS IN THE PHYTOREMEDIATION OF HEAVY METAL CONTAMINATED SOILS

In this study, phytoremediation; the amount of heavy metal (Cu) uptake by plant species, host plants' symbiosis potential with two different species of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), interaction between AMF and host plants for sequestration of Cu available in the soil, as well as generation of glomalin-related soil protein (GRSP). Heavy metal concentrations were 100, 500 and 1000 ppm. For phytoremediation, two commercial crops (sorghum and sunflowers) which are widely cultivated in majority of agricultural fields in Turkey were used as host plants.

The results showed a strong variability in sunflower and sorghum plants colonized with both AMF species in terms of GRSP (0.6–11.2 mg g⁻¹ and 0.2-10.75 mg g⁻¹), respectively. Cu content (29.34–249.86 mg kg⁻¹ for the total Cu in sunflower and 12.06–73.97 mg kg⁻¹ for sorghum rhizosphere colonized by *G. mosseae* (up to 60%) were observed.

This study provides evidence on the role of the plant microbe interactions in Cu sequestration as well as Glomalin generation related to heavy metal stimulation. Findings suggest highly efficient mechanism for AMF to mitigate stress leading to stabilization of polluted soils. Results also provide a new suggestion on the contribution of Glomalin in copper sequestration in polluted soils.

AĞIR METAL İLE KONTAMİNE OLMUŞ TOPRAKLARIN FİTOREMEDİASYONUNDA BİTKİ VE MİKROORGANİZMA ETKİLEŞİMLERİ

Bu çalışmada, fitoremediasyon; bitki türleri tarafından kontamine topraktan ağır metalin (Cu) uzaklaştırılması, konak bitkilerin iki farklı tür arbusküler mikoriza mantarı (AMF) ile simbiyoz potansiyeli, mikoriza ile bitki etkileşiminin toprakta mevcut olan kirletici bakırın stabilizasyonu ve topraktan ayrılması, yanı sıra arbüsküler mikoriza mantarı tarafından üretilen, glikoprotein olan toprak protein Glomalin (GRSP). Topraktaki ağır metal konsantrasyonları 100, 500, ve 1000 ppm'dir. Fitoremediasyon çalışması için, Türkiye'deki tarım alanlarında yaygın olarak üretilen iki tür ticari mahsül olan sorgum ve ayçiçeği bitkileri konak bitki olarak kullanılmıştır.

Sonuçlar; arbüsküler mikoriza türleriyle koloni oluşturmuş olan ayçiçeği ve sorgum bitkilerinin glomalin (GRSP) seviyelerinde ciddi artış göstermektedir (sırası ile 0.6 - 11.2 mg g⁻¹ ve 0.2-10.75 mg g⁻¹). Ağır metal – bakır muhtevası *G. mosseae* ile mikorizasyonun %60'a kadar ulaştığı ayçiçeği bitkisinde toplam bakır miktarı 29.34 – 249.86 mg kg⁻¹, sorghum bitkisinde ise 12.06 - 73.97mg kg⁻¹ olarak gözlemlenmiştir.

Bu çalışmada elde edilen sonuçlar, bitki ve mikoriza etkileşiminin topraktan kirletici (Cu) uzaklaştırılmasında ve bitki kökünde oluşan mikorizasyon tarafından ağır metal uyarımı sonucu üretilen Glomalin miktarları üzerindeki etkisini kanıtlar niteliktedir. Bulgular, yüksek miktarda kontaminasyona uğramış toprakların oluşturduğu baskının mikoriza aktivitesi ile hafifletilerek toprak stabilizasyonuna katkıda bulunduğunu desteklemektedir. Ayrıca, Glomalin üretiminin topraktan kirletici giderilmesi mekanizması üzerindeki etkisi konusunda yeni bir yaklaşım sunmaktadır.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
ÖZET	v
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	Х
LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS	xi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1. Heavy Metals Pollution	5
2.2. Remediation of Heavy Metal Polluted Soils	7
2.2.1. Physical Methods	7
2.2.2. Chemical Methods	8
2.2.2. Biological Methods	9
2.3. Phytoremediation	10
2.4. Plant Morphology	14
2.4.1. Hyperaccumulators	14
2.4.2. Mechanism of Heavy Metal Hyperaccumulation	15
2.4.3. Root-to-Shoot Translocation	15
2.5. Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi	17
2.5.1. Interactions between Arbuscular Mycorrhiza and Plant Rhizosphere	19
2.6. Glomalin Related Soil Protein (GRSP)	20

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
3.1. Germination Test	21
3.2. Propagules of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF)	23
3.3. Preliminary Greenhouse Experiments	25
3.4. Phytoremediation Set	25
3.5. Harvesting and Sampling	28
3.6. Digestion Method	28
3.7. Determination of Mycorrhization	29
3.8. Glomalin Related Soil Protein (GRSP) Measurement	30
4. RESULTS	31
4.1. Germination Tests	31
4.2. Experimental Units for Phytoremediation Study	38
4.2.1. Heavy Metal Uptake of the Plants	41
4.2.2. Mycorrhization on Roots	47
4.2.3. Glomalin Related Soil Protein (GRSP)	53
5. CONCLUSIONS	56
6. RECOMMENDATIONS	60

vii

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Schematic representation of thermal remediation	8
Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of phytoremediation mechanisms	12
Figure 3.1. Germination set-up in petri dishes	23
Figure 3.2. Application of Glomus intraradices and Glomus mosseae	24
Figure 3.3. Plants with Glomus intraradices and Glomus mosseae	24
Figure 3.4. Sunflower (Hornet) plants' growth over time (3rd & 4th Week)	27
Figure 3.5. Sunflower (Hornet) plants' growth over time (5th & 6th Week)	27
Figure 3.6. Prepared slides for determination of mycorrhization	29
Figure 4.1. Comparison of radicle length (mm) of sorghum plants	34
Figure 4.2. Comparison of hypocotyl length (mm) of sorghum plants	34
Figure 4.3. Comparison of radicle length (mm) of sunflower plants	36
Figure 4.4. Comparison of hypocotyl length (mm) of sunflower plants	36
Figure 4.5. Fresh weights of the harvested sorghum plants	40
Figure 4.6. Fresh weights of the harvested sunflower plants	41
Figure 4.7. Cu translocation to sunflower shoots	41
Figure 4.8. Cu stabilization on sunflower roots	42
Figure 4.9. Cu translocation to sorghum shoots	44
Figure 4.10. Cu stabilization on sorghum roots	44
Figure 4.11. Comparison of mycorrhization rate of sunflower shoots	48
Figure 4.12. Comparison of mycorrhization rate of sorghum shoots	49

Figure 4.13. Spore, hyphal, and vesicular forms of <i>G.mosseae</i> in roots	49
Figure 4.14. Spore, hyphal, and vesicular forms of <i>G.intraradices</i> in roots	50
Figure 4.15. GRSP concentrations of sunflower planted soils	53
Figure 4.16. GRSP concentrations of sorghum planted soils	54

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Cu concentration in soils on different HM contaminated sites	6
Table 2.2. Advantages and disadvantages of phytoremediation	10
Table 2.3. Heavy Metal Phytoremediation field applications in Europe	13
Table 3.1. Composition of MSR medium	26
Table 4.1. Germination ratio of different sunflower varieties	31
Table 4.2. Results of germination and seedlings characters for selected varieties unde the application of different Cu concentrations	er 33
Table 4.3. Potted sorghum plants' growth over time	37
Table 4.4. Plant height in Sunflower (Hornet) during phytoremediation study	38
Table 4.5. Sorghum plant height changes over phytoremediation study	39
Table 4.6. Phytoremediation experimentation data of sunflower plants	43
Table 4.7. Phytoremediation experimentation data of sorghum plants	45
Table 4.8. Cu mass balance through rhizosphere and transition to plants	46
Table 4.9. Mycorrhization data of each plant- AMF combination	47
Table 4.10. Relation of Cu concentration on roots and shoots with mycorrhization	52
Table 4.11. Comparison of GRSP, mycorrhization, and stabilized Cu in roots	55

LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Explanation
HM	Heavy Metal
HMCS	Heavy Metal Contaminated Soils
AMF	Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi
GRSP	Glomalin-Related Soil Protein
PGPR	Plant Growth Promoting Rhizosphere
GST	Glutatthione S-Transferares
EKRT	Elektro-Kinetic Remediation Technology

1. INTRODUCTION

Soil structure and mechanisms inside soil are important environmental factors because of their role as natural buffers; hence, controlling the transport of nutrients and contaminants to the atmosphere, hydrosphere and biosphere [1]. Therefore due to these interactions, soil contamination has been increasing over the years by natural processes and anthropogenic activities.

European Environment Agency (EEA) reported a dramatic estimation of total contaminated areas across Europe, which covers 2.5 million sites. 14% of these presumably polluted areas (340,000 sites) need an immediate remediation planning [2]. Consequently, to build a suitable environment that can support organism activities in the ecosystem by reducing the contamination in soil, planning should involve appropriate implemental remediation methods which covers; economic feasibility, efficiency, and applicability to the concerned area [3].

Through the soil pollution, heavy metals are common compounds which are metallic chemical elements found naturally on earth. Industrial development triggered their accumulation in the nature and soil; therefore, heavy metal pollution emerges as a main concern. Two essential resources of heavy metals can be listed as: (i) natural background: parent rock is a main source for this kind of heavy metal concentration and (ii) anthropogenic activities: including urbanization, agro-chemical, organic amendments, chemical fertilizers, sewage sludge and industrial waste.

Human activities and its input exceeded the natural input of several heavy metals into the soil on regional and global scales [4,5]. It is well known that heavy metals in higher doses have toxic effects for ecological life and human health. Therefore, it is crucial to develop reasonable policies for controlling heavy metal pollution as well as implementing proper soil remediation techniques in order to manage contaminated areas in this respect. Remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils (HMCS) can be carried out via various techniques and applications. These methods can be classified as, (i) physical methods; such as thermal desorption & destruction and soil replacement method, (ii) chemical methods; including electrokinetic remediation, chemical leaching, chemical fixation [6], chemical extraction, and nanoremediation (iii) biological methods; phytoremediation, biological remediation.

Biological methods are getting more attention recently by legal and governmental authorities based on their economical reliability and environmental aspects. Among the biological methods for soil remediation; phytoremediation, explained as the use of plants for the reclamation of air, soil and water contaminated by organic and inorganic pollutants, had increased its importance during the last decade.

In soil pollution, phytoremediation is becoming the pioneer and developing technology for degradation and removal of pollutants in developed countries because of its advantages such as; cost effectiveness, beneficial environmental impact, and public acceptance. However, because of long term operation to perform cleaning of contaminated sites this technique has also some drawbacks, when compared to traditional engineering technologies. These technologies are much faster than biological remediation means but also extremely expensive for the municipalities and may disturb the ecological life within the area on environmental aspect [7].

Soils, as a host environment have tremendous number of biological and nonbiological elements and species. Biological ecosystem in soil is the mixture of thousands of species of fungus, bacteria, protozoa (microorganisms) nematodes, worms and other living things which all together contribute as first level to the food chain in biosphere. Among soil biological elements arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are the most common soil microorganisms in natural and agricultural soils. Main organs of plants growth, roots, can form symbiotic associations meaning beneficial relationship with AMF to develop and promote growth. In this respect plant plays as host organism, while AMF support plants' life through this symbioses relationship. In nature, flora and fauna are generally able to adapt and survive when encountered with crisis such as drought, salinity, water flood and toxic substances like heavy metals via adjustment and adaptation abilities. Soil-plant interaction studies have demonstrated that AMF can help their host plants to endure heavy metal stress, and can increase metal uptake and translocation to plant bodies. Corresponding the host plants provide AMF with photosynthesis outcome like carbon compounds, and in return, AMF obtain nutrients (*i.e.* phosphorus and nitrogen) which are not available for plant roots or too low for their hosts. In the specific and dramatically circumstance this relationship lead the AMF to produce metal chelation of glomalin, fungal polyphosphates and metallothioneins that have high binding capacities for heavy metal [8].

Mycorrhizal (AMF) interaction with plants produces the glycoprotein (Glomalin) [9,10]. In various soils glomalin is detected in large amounts as glomalin-related soil protein (GRSP) [11]. Glomalin is a mean of carbon storage in the soil and has been studied from so many angles and objectives. Glomalin is the product of sequestration of potentially toxic element as heavy metals (HM), and plays an important role in soil stability. It is established that, some well-known heavy metals such as Cu, Cd, Pb and Zn can bind with GRSP and sequestration occurs [12,13].

In this study, heavy metals (Cu) contaminated soil and its phytoremediation potential was simulated for evaluating the role of different interactions between different mycorrhiza (AMF) species such as *Glomus intraradices* and *Glomus mosseae*; and plant growth promoting rhizosphere (PGPR) in scope of soil phytoremediation.

Specific objectives of this study are as follows;

- (1) Evaluate the role of soil microbial (AMF) and host plants interactions in the formation of appropriate phytoremediation technique to improve soil health, stabilization and sustainability by the uptake rate of heavy metals from the surface soil.
- (2) Assess the formation of soil proteins under exposure of heavy metals.
- (3) Understand functional role of mycorrhizal fungi diversity in formation of specific phytoremediation networks.

This study aimed to observe the absorption, translocation, efflux, and metabolites of selected heavy metals as inorganic pollutants in the plant-root-rhizosphere system. Heavy metals influence on two different species of AMF (*Glomus mosseae* and *Glomus intraradices*), and effect of this interaction on plant growth and heavy metal uptake performance. In order to understand the functions of the plant-microbe-soil interactions in rhizosphere, ecology of mycorrhizosphere network and the diversity of plant-microbe-soil combinations, particularly the tight co-operation between different species of AMF soil bacteria and plant root in the rhizosphere were monitored. Therefore, the aim of this study was to understand the basic processes in the root zone and correlating them with the microorganism symbioses effect on plant growth and heavy metal remediation capacity in contaminated soils.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Heavy Metals Pollution

In the recent centuries due to industrial progression, anthropogenic activities triggered the extensive release of industrial wastes, a complex mixture of materials and components. These enormous quantities of industrial pollutants, containing several hundreds of different substances have been released into the environment over years and many of them are toxic and create serious pollution in agricultural ecosystems upon disposal.

Due to the nature of heavy metal pollution sources, solid waste management is becoming more complicated by characteristic differences among industrial waste, particularly heavy metal involvement is challenging in this aspect. Inadequate practice and handling waste management by the industries resulted in continuous addition of organic and inorganic wastes in ecosystems. Safe and nature sense of urban and arable land prohibited by being encountered with heavy metals released and leached from neighborhood landfills and contaminates water sources to with toxic metals [14].

Heavy metals are thus commonly defined as those having a specific density of more than 5 g/cm³. The main threats to human health from heavy metals are associated with exposure to lead, cadmium, mercury and arsenic (arsenic is a metalloid, but is usually classified as a heavy metal) [15].

The doses and concentration of heavy metals as well as their physical and chemical forms make them mobile or bioavailable. Heavy metals release into the environment can occur via a wide range of processes and pathways, including to the air (e.g. during combustion, extraction and processing), to surface waters (via runoff and releases from storage and transport) and to the soil (and hence into ground waters and crops) [16]. Heavy metal (Cu) concentrations on different contaminated sites are given in Table 2.1.

Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in flora and fauna proved to have toxic effects. Several studies showed that toxicity of the heavy metal - Cu applies to, microbial processes in soils [17], earthworms [18,19], plants [20,21], microalgae [22], aqueous plants [23], and fish species [24,25]. Also on environmental health hazard point of view, Cu has influence on various diseases observed in humans as well. Namely; hepatocerebral and neurodegenerative diseases such as; Alzheimer's [26], Parkinson's disease [26], Wilson's disease [26,27], Menkes disease [27,28], Skogholt's disease [29], and liver diseases [30]. Hence, it is crucial to implement remediation measures to areas contaminated with heavy metals.

Location of the Site	Cu (ppm)	Reference
Yangtze Delta, China	32.4	[5]
Alaba, Nigeria	4308	[31]
Guiyu, China	683.8	[31]
Sarcheshmeh mine, Iran	110 - 1330	[32]
Darezaar mine, Iran	30 - 450	[32]
Sereydoon mine, Iran	150 - 210	[32]
Karachi, Pakistan	26.79	[33]
Eskişehir, Turkey	39.33	[34]
Novi Sad, Serbia	21.9	[35]
Vineyard – France	201-689	[36]
Vineyard – Italy	194-448	[36]
Palermo, Italy	77	[37]
Lus Tunas, Cuba	94	[38]

Table 2.1. Cu concentration in soils on different heavy metal contaminated sites.

2.2. Remediation of Heavy Metal Polluted Soils

2.2.1. Physical Methods

Physical remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils can be classified with two main categories; (1) Soil replacement method, and (2) Thermal treatment methods.

(1) Application of soil replacement method is based on removing the polluted soil and importing fresh soil. This method provides fast remediation of the site; however, it is only applicable within a small area because of the required labor and high cost.

Among the engineering techniques soil replacement method can also be applied without removing the specified soil, by importing high amounts of fresh soil into the system. This method is based on physically diluting the contamination and decreasing the toxic effects caused by heavy metals [6]. This approach is also not suitable for large areas for the same reasons explained above.

(2) The thermal treatment (<1000 °C) and smouldering (600–1100 °C) remediation methods relies on heating the associated soils to high temperatures via different techniques and apply filtering to the volatilized contaminants. These two physical/engineering based applications, has been implemented and verified to remove significant amounts of organic pollutants from soil with low footsteps on environmental impacts.

Yet, remediation of the heavy metal contaminated sites by thermal means is more complex, since in-situ devices used for heating is expensive and desorption time for HM is rather long, also high temperatures affects the biological and chemical properties of the soil as well, after application of thermal means, restoring the soil introduces further expense, making the process more challenging [39,40]. Illustration of thermal remediation is presented in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1. Schematic representation of thermal remediation [41].

2.2.2. Chemical Methods

Chemical methods used for reclamation of heavy metal polluted soils are; (1) Electrokinetic remediation technology (EKRT),(2) Chemical fixation, (3) Chemical leaching, and (4) Nanoremediation.

(1) Electro-kinetic remediation technology (EKRT); which is an emerging method to treat both organic and inorganic pollutants. Working principle of the EKRT is using low level direct current between anodes and cathodes in soils to mobilize and recover the contaminants [42]. EKRT is suitable for low permeable soils and easy to operate with a low cost [43]. Recent studies on HM remediation using modified versions of EKRT resulted in 75% Cu removal [44], another study achieved 60% Hg removal [45], also 54% of Cu and 30% of As removal from contaminated soil observed [46].

(2) Chemical fixation; aims to immobilize the pollutants in the soil by introducing reagents and forming relatively low-toxic compounds and reduce their bioavailability and potential transport of pollutants to water bodies and other plants. Fe(hydr)oxides proved to be effective reagents used for heavy metal fixation (Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn). Results from a related research by Contin et al., on chemical fixation of heavy metals showed that, extractable HM compounds such as Cd, Cu and Zn decreased significantly in the arable

soil by 88%, 93%, 36% and grassland soil by 95%, 98%, 65% [47]. Another study carried out by using Mn(oxides) and Fe(oxides) for arsenic fixation from soil resulted in 56% and 67% reductions of leachable arsenic compared to untreated soil in two different sites [48].

(3) Chemical leaching; can be applied by using means adsorption, ions exchange, chelation, and precipitation with fresh water or reagents in liquid or gaseous forms to leach the pollutants such as heavy metals and recovering them from leachate; thus, remediating the contaminated soils. Plant-derived biodegradable compound – saponin can be used as biosurfactant on heavy metal contaminated soils. In a study carried out by Hong et al., using saponin utilization achieved 90-100% Cd, 85-98% Zn extraction from related soil sites [49].

(4) Nanoremediation; is the utilization of nanoparticles to treat contaminated bodies, and applicable to soil, groundwater, and surface waters. Successful applications of macroscale metallic substances for reclamation, there is an increasing interest on nanoscale materials for in situ remediation application [50]. Main drawback for using nanoscale materials is that widely used form for environmental remediation contains iron compounds, and due to lack of knowledge on the fate and transport of these nanoscale materials in the environment, ongoing researches pertaining to the potential toxicological effects of nanoscale materials [51].

2.2.2. Biological Methods

Due to their nature, heavy metals cannot be degraded or disintegrated by biological means; hence, biological methods for HM remediation solely relies on their bioaccumulation, and migration potential. Introducing biological processes for treatment of contaminated soils can be done via two different methods; (1) In-situ applications, such as phytoremediation, bioaugmentation, bioventing, and biosparging. (2) Ex-situ applications, including composting, land farming, and bioreactors.

Bioremediation methods are based on the activities of soil microorganisms', therefore; in situ applications are easily applicable and feasible. Soil microorganisms essentially need an energy source, and nutrients in a habitable environment (pH, temperature, moisture, type of soil, oxygen level, and electron acceptor) with the absence of toxic constituents.

2.3. Phytoremediation

Phytotechnologies can be defined as the utilization of plants to remediate, treat, stabilize or control the contamination in soils, and phytoremediation is one of these, dedicated to the removal or the destruction of pollutants. The application of phytoremediation technologies, as an alternative to high cost chemical and physical methods, represents a great inexpensive opportunity to reclaim contaminated soils, maintaining or even improving their biological features. In fact, the main concern for biological studies of soil rehabilitation is to improve their efficiency. One of the disadvantages in phytoextraction technology regards the plants employed for metal extraction from soil, which are annuals and show a seed-to-seed life cycle occurring over a few months, usually in spring and summer [52]. Advantages and plausible drawbacks of phytoremediation technologies are detailed in Table 2.2, and some applications of these technologies in Europe region are presented in Table 2.3.

Advantages	Disadvantages / Limitations
Suitable for variety of organic and inorganic compounds.	Restricted to sites with shallow contamination within rooting zone of hyperaccumulators.
Remediation can be practiced both In Situ and Ex Situ.	Slow process, may take up to several years for remediation.
In Situ applications decrease the amount of soil disturbance compared to conventional methods.	Restricted to sites with low contaminant concentrations.
Can reduce the amount of waste up to 95%.	Harvested plant biomass from phytoextraction may be classified as a hazardous waste, hence, should be properly disposed.
In Situ applications decrease spread of pollutant via air and water.	Climatic conditions are a limiting factor for plant growth.
Does not require expensive equipment or highly specialized personnel.	Introduction of non-native species may affect biodiversity.
In large scale applications the biomass can be utilized to generate energy.	Consumption/utilization of contaminated plant biomass should be monitored.

Table 2.2. Advantages and disadvantages of phytoremediation [53].

Selective uptake of certain plant root systems are unique capabilities which phytoremediation method relies on. This combined with the metals translocation, bioaccumulation, and contaminant degradation abilities of the whole plant upper and under grand parts [54]. Studies showed that, various plants species have been successful in accumulating heavy metals such as lead, cadmium, chromium, and arsenic. This method also utilizes heavy metals that are essential for plant growth (Fe, Mn, Zn, Cu, Mg, Mo, and Ni). Some metals with unknown biological function (Co, Ag, Se, Hg) can also be accumulated [55].

Phytoremediation can be applied in various forms depending on contaminants and soil characteristics. For organic pollutants; phytodegradation, phytovolatilization, rhizofiltration, or rhizodegredation mechanisms can be implemented. For inorganic compounds such as heavy metals; suitable mechanisms of phytoremediation are; phytoextraction, phytostabilization, rhizofiltration, and phytovolatilization. Schematic explanation of pytoremediaton mechanisms are portrayed in Figure 2.2.

Phytoextraction, described as using plants to extract heavy metals from contaminated soil. Accumulated heavy metals in the shoots of grown plants and can be removed from soil by harvesting. Latest phytoextraction researches aims to unveil those species showing high biomass production that are native to the area requiring remediation and, are easily cropped [56].

Phytostabilization typically involves using suitable perennial plants to the contaminated area to immobilize the pollutants and reduce their bioavailability in soil bodies. The method depends on roots ability to cope with concerned contaminants' level in the soil. Phytostabilization can occur via sorption, precipitation, complexation, or metal valence reduction. The plantation's primary purpose is to reduce the amount of water percolating through the soil; thus, decreasing the risk of formation for hazardous leachate and prevent soil erosions [57].

Rhizofiltration, is similar to phytoextraction process but instead of plant shoots it focuses on the part of the plant below surface. Roots' ability to absorb, concentrate, and precipitate the contaminants from polluted areas determines the effectiveness of the application. Rhizofiltration can partially treat industrial discharge, and can be used for various heavy metals' remediation such as lead, cadmium, copper, nickel, zinc and chromium, which are primarily retained within the roots [58].

During phytovolatilization, while organic and inorganic contaminants uptake from the soil, plant's biological processes can transform them into a different volatile form. Later on the final form of the pollutant components are transpired from plant shoots to the atmosphere. Phytovolatilization has been primarily used for the removal of mercury from soil, the mercuric ion is transformed into less toxic elemental mercury; yet, volatilized form of mercury released into the atmosphere is very likely to be recycled by precipitation and then redeposit back into ecosystem [59].



Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of phytoremediation mechanisms [55].

Phytodegradation, organic compounds which are present in the soil can be degraded by plant metabolism and reduce the amounts of related organic contaminants by revenue of transformation or break down. The breakdown of organics taken up by the plant to smaller molecules requires the presence of proteins and enzymes produced by the plant or by soil organisms such as bacteria or fungi. Phytodegradation can be successful as a result of the symbiotic relationship between plants and soil microbes. Symbiosis mechanism: plants provide nutrients necessary for the microbes to thrive, while microbes provide a healthier soil environment for the plant [60].

Site Location	Plant Species	Heavy
Site Location	I fait species	Metals
Katovice, Poland	Brassica juncea	Pb, Cd
Switzerland, (Former Landfill)	Salix viminalis (willow)	Zn, Cd
Ronneburg, Germany	Triticale, H. Annuus Brassica juncea	Cd, Cu, Fe, Mn, Ni, Zn, Pb
United Kingdom, (Sewage Disposal Site)	Salix species (willow)	Ni, Cu, Zn, Cd
Hlemyzdi, Chech Republic	H. annuus, C. sativa, Z. mays, C. Halleri	Zn
Balen, Belgium	Brassica napus	Zn, Cd, Pb
Dornach, Switzerland	improved tobacco plants	Cu, Cd, Zn

Table 2.3. Heavy metal phytoremediation field applications in Europe [61,62].

Based on the phytoremediation method, plants' involvement for degradation or stabilization of concerned pollutants from soil depends on their growth activity. Optimum seasonal growth period enables plants to establish and develop their root area and expand in the rhizosphere as strong as possible. Duration of the growth period affects plants' performance to spread through rhizosphere wider, thus, stabilizing more heavy metals available in the soil. In addition, shoots of the plants continue to grow and produce more biomass as long as climate conditions are favourable. Mediterranean climate; which has hot and long term summer with longer sunshine duration is suitable for C₄ plants growth like Sorghum and Sunflower. Therefore, phytoremediation application in Turkey is suitable and it can be effective and feasible for remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils.

2.4. Plant Morphology

2.4.1. Hyperaccumulators

Hyperaccumulator plants are able to absorb remarkably high amounts of heavy metals, either as single elements or complex compounds from the soil when compared to other plant species [63]. Furthermore, the heavy metals are not just stabilized in the roots but also translocated to the shoot and accumulated in above ground organs, especially leaves. The accumulation concentrations in hyperaccumulator plants may exceed between 100–1000 fold higher than those found in non-hyperaccumulating species. Hyperaccumulators show no symptoms of phytotoxicity [64,65]. Despite having different feature, hyperaccumulation also be dependent on hypertolerance, an essential key property allowing plants to avoid heavy metal poisoning, to which hyperaccumulator plants are as sensitive as non-hyperaccumulators [66].

About 450 angiosperm species have been identified so far as heavy metal (As, Cd, Co, Cu, Mn, Ni, Pb, Sb, Se, Tl, Zn,) hyperaccumulators, accounting for less than 0.2% of all known species. However, recent reports reveals that with late identification of hyperaccumulator plants, the number of hyperaccumulators continue to increase [67,68]. It is very plausible that unidentified hyperaccumulators may function in nature. On the other hand, species classified as hyperaccumulators due to their analysis from field samples might be removed from the hyperaccumulator plants list, if this feature could not be confirmed by experimentation under controlled conditions [69]. For instance, in researches regarding leaf surface contamination by field samples triggered a critical re-examination of the Cu and Co hyperaccumulators [70,71].

The hyperaccumulator species are spread through worldwide. This feature can be a result of adaptation of the plant in heavy metal polluted soils. Function mechanism of hyperaccumulating plants are still under study and discussion. However, series of suggestions to explain this mechanism have been discussed. These objectives will be discussed in the following section.

2.4.2. Mechanism of Heavy Metal Hyperaccumulation

The degree of hyperaccumulation of one or more heavy metals can differ and may be significant in different species or also in populations and ecotypes of the same species [72,73]. However, hyperaccumulation relies on three essential indicators that distinguish hyperaccumulators from related non-hyperaccumulator species. Common traits of hyperaccumulators are; (1) Much greater capability of taking up heavy metals from the soil; (2) Faster and effective root-to-shoot translocation of metals; (3) Capacity to depollute and sequester high amounts of heavy metals into the leaves. The investigation and understanding of hyperaccumulation function in those plants to uptake heavy metals has been deeply developing. Several studies performed to understand the mechanism. These studies focused on different approaches such as physiological, genomic, and proteomic features of hyperaccumulators and related non-hyperaccumulator plants. *T. caerulescens* and *A. halleri* are two plants that have been used in many studies and researches, thus, they became model plants for other applications [74,75]. Verbruggen et al., have revealed an interesting feature of hyperaccumulators and non-hyperaccumulators [76].

2.4.3. Root-to-Shoot Translocation

Hyperaccumulators, different from non-hyperaccumulator plants, does not retain the heavy metals in the root cells, and does not detoxify them by chelation or store them into vacuoles. Shoot parts of hyperaccumulators are the places which elements can be translocated rapidly and efficiently. This entails the heavy metal availability for xylem loading, originating from low sequestration into a ready efflux out of the vacuoles, possibly due to specific features of root cell [77]. Amount of specific heavy metal - Zn sequestered into cell root vacuoles is 2–3-fold lower and the Zn efflux out of vacuoles almost twice as fast in the hyperaccumulators *T. caerulescens* [77] and *S. alfredii* [78] than in non-hyperaccumulating species. A lower amount of metals separately accumulator root vacuoles as translocation in hyperaccumulator compared with non-hyperaccumulator species of Pteris [79].

Another feature of hyperaccumulators is the presence of small organic molecules in the roots, which makes metals binding. However, what kind of involvement of different chelators in hyperaccumulation has not been well-known yet. Some organic acids, such as malate and citrate has a role of ligands in the root cells, has shown low association with metals that makes complexation negligible, making this function is particularly arguable[80]. Meanwhile, some free amino acids, such as histidine and nicotinamine play key role in heavy metal hyperaccumulation, which form stable complexes with bivalent cations [81].

Various hypotheses have been proposed to explain the role of high elemental concentrations in leaves of the plants [82], namely; metal tolerance/disposal, drought resistance, interference with neighboring plants, and defense mechanism against natural enemies. According to the tolerance/disposal hypothesis, the unusual hyperaccumulation form would allow plants to translocate heavy metals away from the roots to tolerant leaf tissues. This eliminates them from the plant body by shedding the high-metal upper-grand organ. Another explanation is that large amounts of heavy metals might increase plant drought resistance via water's role in cell walls or its possible respondance like osmolytes inside the cells. These hypotheses, however, are hardly supported by experimental confirmation, so that their validity requires further investigation.

Hyperaccumulators have been believed to have limited potential of phytoremediation because most of the hyperaccumulators are metal selective, and does not accumulates for all elements, also they can only be used in their native habitats, above all, they have relatively small biomass, shallow root systems and slow growth rates, which limits the speed of heavy metal removal [83,84].

Several pot and field studies have showed that the hyperaccumulator *T. caerulescens* grown as a crop can accumulate as high as 5 tons ha⁻¹ by breeding to increase the combination of yield and shoot metal concentration [85]. Moreover, the recycling of shoot metals may provide another value to the ash originated from metal hyperaccumulators; hence, there is no need for further expense to dispose the plants. Various species of *Thlaspi* are known for hyperaccumulating more than one heavy metal. Mostly, *Thlaspi* planted on Ni contaminated sites and accumulates about 3% of its dry matter as metal but

T. caerulescens can accumulate Cd, Ni, Zn, and Pb. As a hyperaccumulator of Cd and Zn, it could remove as much as 60 kg Zn ha⁻¹ and 8.4 Kg Cd ha⁻¹ [86]; *T. goesingese* and *T. ochroleucum* hyperaccumulate Ni and Zn while *T. rotundifolium* hyperaccumulates Ni, Pb, and Zn [87]. The brake fern *P. vittata*, produces a large biomass under favorable climate conditions, and can accumulate (from relatively low As concentration in the soil) 22 g As kg⁻¹ in dry weight, with26% removal rate for the soil's initial As concentration [88,89]. These results indicate that phytoremediation of moderate levels of As contamination in sites is feasible. On the other hand, Pb compounds in soil mostly immobile and its extraction is limited by its solubility and diffusion rate to the root surface, and common buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum, Polygonaceae*), were the first known Pb hyperaccumulator species with high biomass, can accumulate up to 4.2mg g⁻¹ dry weight of Pb in the shoots [90].

2.5. Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi

Universal and global symbiotic microorganisms such as azotobacters and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF); belonging to *Glomerales order*, form symbiotic relationships with roots of 80~90% land plants in natural and agricultural ecosystems [91], including halophytes, hydrophytes and xerophytes [92]. Mycorrhizal fungi are known to benefit plant nutrition, growth and survival, due to their greater exploitation of soil for nutrients [93]. These associations represent a key factor in the below ground networks which influence diversity and plant community structure [94]. The degree of benefit to each partner in any AMF-plant host interaction depends not only on the particular plant and AMF species involved but also on the rhizobacteria and soil abiotic factors. Soil microorganisms are known to play role in the mobilization and stabilize of metal cations, thereby changing their availability to plants [95].

AMF are among the most common soil microorganisms and constitute an important functional component of the soil plant system occurring in almost all environments and climates, including disturbed soils [96]. More specifically, it has been shown that AMF can be affected by heavy metal toxicity, but in many cases mycotrophic plants growing in soils contaminated with heavy metals are colonized by AMF [8]. Many reports concerning this

have quantified spores and estimated root colonization. Others have gone further and described metal tolerant AMF in heavy metal polluted soils [97].

In recent years, research interest has focused on the diversity and tolerance of AMF in heavy metal contaminated soils trying to understand the basis underlying adaptation and tolerance of AMF to heavy metals in soils, since this could facilitate the management of these soil microorganisms, for phytoremediation/bioremediation programs. Few analytical studies have focused on AM in polluted soils or soils that are under constant heavy metals application.

While some workers observed that the external mycelium of AMF was the main site for trace element localization [98], others reported selective exclusion of toxic and nontoxic elements by adsorption onto chitinous cell walls [99], extra-cellular glycoprotein, glomalin, or intra-cellular precipitation. All these mechanisms have implications in reducing a plant's exposure to potentially toxic elements, i.e. mycorrhizo-remediation technology. Gonzalez, studied the form and localization of heavy metal accumulation in the extra-radical mycelium of three AM fungi isolated from the same polluted soil contaminated with Cu and As, and found that AMF-related soil protein; Glomalin, plays a vital part in sorption and sequestration of potentially toxic elements, and reducing their bioavailability [12].

Differential capacity of AMF to absorb and accumulate Cu as determined by scanning and transmission electron microscopy (SEM and TEM) is reported [100]; yet, the nature of accumulation and mechanisms involved require further studies in order to better understand the participation of AMF in plant tolerance and its ecological significance in polluted soils.

AMF can be screened for their ability to produce maximum levels of extra-radical mycelium in polluted soils, and to utilize adapted AMF to help accumulate heavy metal both within the plant roots (phytoaccumulation) and the extracellular fungal mycelium. During fungal degradation of lignin, carbohydrates are generated, but toxic phenols are also concomitantly released. Fungi generally biotransform pesticides and other organic xenobiotic by inducing minor structural changes to the pesticide, rendering in nontoxic.

The metabolic fate of soil pollutants such as organic xenobiotics is dependent on abiotic environmental conditions (temperature, moisture, soil pH, etc.), microbial community or plant species (or both), pesticide characteristics (hydrophilicity, $pK_{a/b}$, K_{ow}) and biological and chemical reactions.

Abiotic degradation is due to chemical and physical transformations of the pesticide by processes such as photolysis, hydrolysis, oxidation, reduction, and rearrangements. However, enzymatic transformation, which is mainly the result of biotic processes mediated by plants and microorganisms, is by far the major route of detoxification [100]. A major difficulty in translating the results of research into practical recommendations is the interaction between factors affecting the AMF symbiosis and the separation of cause and effect.

2.5.1. Interactions between Arbuscular Mycorrhiza and Plant Rhizosphere

In nature, most of the actively absorbing rootlets form symbiotic association with mycorrhizal fungi which are ubiquitous soil inhabitants. The changes in root exudates affect the microbial communities around the roots, leading to formation the "mycorrhizosphere". The mycorrhizosphere is the zone of soil exposed with pollutions where the physical, chemical, and microbiological processes are influenced by plant roots and their associated mycorrhizal fungi [93]. In laboratory studies with axenic plants, rhizosphere processes were not considered, e.g. role of mycorrhiza for soil phytoremediation.

Numerous organic xenobiotics and xenobiotic organic pollutants are detoxified in plants to glutathione conjugates. Following these reactions, xenobiotic GS-conjugates are compartmentalized in the vacuole of plant cell. These xenobiotic may interact deleteriously with an organism, causing toxic and in animal sometimes carcinogenic effects. Nevertheless, plants are able to detoxify organic pollutants by conjugation reactions, e.g. mediated by glutathione S-transferases (GST). Some GSTs are constitutively expressed in certain tissues, but GST regulation can be modified by agrochemicals, including herbicide safeners (antidotes) and synergists. It is hypothesized that plant GST gene promotes have multiple regulatory elements that respond differently to specific or more general stress-

related singles [100]. The role of GSTs in plants may encompass several major functions. A second function may be the regulation and transport of both endogenous and exogenous compounds which are often GS-X tagged for compartmentalization in the vacuole or cell wall [101].

It is generally accepted that xenobiotic glutathione conjugates are sequestered in the vacuole of leaves. However, recent literature documents that vascular storage might be either an alternative or temporary stage in the fate of xenobiotic, as evidence accumulates for plasmalemma transporters for xenobiotic and extracellular degradation enzymes.

Recently, evidences were presented for long range transport of conjugates in barley plants. From these data, it becomes clear, that a significant fraction of the resulting metabolites reaches the rhizosphere, where they may impact other plant's roots and microorganisms in the root zone [100].

2.6. Glomalin Related Soil Protein (GRSP)

Glomalin is a glycoprotein produced by AMF [10]. Operationally defined by extraction and detection conditions [102-106], it is detected in large amounts in diverse soils as glomalin-related soil protein [11]. As such, is widely studied for its implications in the carbon storage, sequestration of potentially toxic element as HM, and its role in soil stability. GRSP could represent a significant fraction of the pool of soil proteins due to its persistence [107]. While the identity of the protein proper has been revealed to be a putative hsp60 homolog [10], the biochemical nature of the substance extracted from soil is still not fully revealed. GRSP appears to be a component of the hyphae and spore wall of AMF, likely released into the soil by mycelium turnover [108], where it subsequently contributes to linking soil particles and stabilizing aggregates [109]. Moreover, recent studies indicate that GRSP can bind and sequester some heavy metals such as Cu, Cd, Pb and Zn [12,13,110]. Based on these data, in this study it was hypothesized that the release and accumulation of GRSP in soils can be a very important mechanism for the stabilization of soils degraded by mining activities, and that this substance may also contribute to sequestration of significant quantities of heavy metal characteristic of this kind of environmental pollution.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

In order to determine the interaction between AMF and rhizosphere of the selected plant species under heavy metal contamination, following tasks were carried out in this study;

i. Preliminary germination tests – Different species of selected plants were germinated in petri dishes to determine the suitable plant varieties for greenhouse experiment.

ii. AMF species' propagules (production) – two adapted species of AMF; *Glomus mosseae* and *Glomus intraradices* inoculums were supplied from Ege University and cultivated under greenhouse conditions to use for inoculation source in this study.

iii. Greenhouse experimental unit – Set-up the main experiment with cultivation of selected plants' seeds (sunflower & sorghum) in stream sand and inoculating with two Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF) species, *Glomus mosseae* and *Glomus intraradices*.

iv. Harvest, sampling, and analysis –measurements of heavy metal uptake by AAS method, and evaluation of mycorrhization in the roots via microscopic analyses as well as determination of glomalin (GRSP) content via Bradford method.

3.1. Germination Test

Preliminary germination tests were conducted in order to determine the germination capacity of the sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) and sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) seeds in the presence of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (*Glomus mosseae*) and heavy metal (*Cu*); design of the test setup consists of; control groups with 100 ppm, 500 ppm, and 1000 ppm of *Cu* concentrations for both sorghum and sunflower seeds without AMF, and 3 parallels of petri dishes for each concentration with the presence of AMF inoculation (Figure 3.1). AMF species (*Glomus mosseae*& *Glomus intraradices*) were adapted local climate and

weather conditions over the past few years and supplied from Ege University. 24 petri dishes were sterilized and prepared to conduct the germination test.

Sorghum and sunflower seeds were supplied from Turkish commercial farming business located in Izmir and Edirne, respectively. Seeds were treated and washed with distilled water and ethanol repeatedly. Contact times for distilled water and ethanol were 5 minutes and 2 minutes, respectively. This cycle was repeated 3 times and in the following step seeds were rinsed 5 times with distilled water. Planted numbers of seeds in petri dishes were 10 for sunflower, and 30 for sorghum.

Introduction of the Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi; *Glomus mosseae*, into the germination system, was carried out as following procedure; 30.002 g of Glucose Hydrate $(C_6H_{14}O_7)$ was dissolved in 100 ml distilled water. Afterwards, 1.8 g of AMF spores was added to the prepared solution. 5 ml of this mixture was added to each petri dishes –except controls-, to observe the effect of *Glomus mosseae* on germination. The initial concentration of the AMF spores was 100 mg mycorrhizal fragments including spores and hyphae per petri dish [91]. Presence of glucose may cause absesic acid formation, which raises typical stress response, germination may be delayed or inhibition of seedling development may occur.

Artificial heavy metal (Cu) pollution was provided by prepared $CuSO_4$ solution; where 0.5003 g of $CuSO_4$ was solved in 500 ml distilled water in order to maintain 1000 ppm copper concentration. Prepared solution was diluted accordingly to 500 ppm, and 100 ppm. 3 ml of the prepared $CuSO_4$ solutions were added to petri dishes accordingly. Seeds' germinations and seedling growth features were monitored for 8 days.



Figure 3.1. Germination set-up in petri dishes.

3.2. Propagules of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF)

Glomus mosseae and *Glomus intraradices s*pecies had been adapted to the Turkey's soils and climate during past several years in Ege University. Provided cultures of AMF were cultivated for mass production for phytoremediation study, using dark-green plastic pots with volume of 0.6 l and 40 gr tare weight (Figure 3.2). 15 pots for each species were initially set up with 500 g of sanitized stream sand, sorghum seeds and 100 ml of distilled water. Temperature of the greenhouse environment was controlled via electrical heaters between 18-22°C. For watering the pots, 20 ml water irrigation was carried out every day to maintain soil humidity at 20%.



Figure 3.2. Application of Glomus intraradices (Left) and Glomus mosseae (Right).

One week after the cultivation setup, the average number of plants per pot was 54 for *Glomus mosseae*, and 34 for *Glomus intraradices*. In order to provide enough nutrients to plants and maintain healthy environment for the sorghum seeds and AMF spores, elimination of inadequate plants was carried out via trimming; thus, number of plants for each pot were halved during the process.

All of the plants were trimmed after 21 days (Figure 3.3), and all pots covered with black plastic bags to accelerate the decomposition of plants and initiating the production of AMF spores.



Figure 3.3. Plants with Glomus intraradices (Left) and Glomus mosseae (Right) after 21 days.

3.3. Preliminary Greenhouse Experiments

Sorghum and sunflower seeds in petri dishes with 3 different copper concentrations (100 ppm, 500 ppm, and 1000 ppm) including controls and AMF introduced seeds were transferred to pots after 7 days of germination. Dark-Green plastic pots with volume of 0.6 l and 40 g tare weight were used. Stream sand was sanitized in oven under 151°C for 20 hours prior to the transfer of the seedlings. Pots and stream sand were supplied from a local botanic shop in Istanbul.

500 g of stream sand utilized for each pot along with seeds and 15 mg of *Glomus mosseae* spores. Afterwards, 100 ml of distilled water was added to each pot for star up, and 20 ml added daily in order to maintain humidity at 20%. 10 ml of Ammonium Ferric Sulfate (NH₄Fe(SO₄)₂) solution with a concentration of 0.3 g/l also added to pots every 2 weeks to provide nutrients for the plants.

Initial heavy metal (Cu) dosage for Sorghum planted pots were 3 ml of each concentration, after 5 weeks second dosage of heavy metal (Cu) was carried out with 15 ml for each concentration in all pots. Meanwhile, the initial heavy metal (Cu) dosage for Sunflower planted pots were 25 ml of each concentration. After 2 weeks from the transfer, second dosage of heavy metal (Cu) applied to all pots with 15 ml for each concentration.

3.4. Phytoremediation Set

Dark-Green colored plastic pots with volume of 3.7 liters and 325 gr tare weight were used for phytoremediation of heavy metals (Cu). Sorghum and sunflower seeds' sterilization was carried out with following procedure; seeds treated with ethanol solution (70%), with a contact time of 1 minute and afterwards seeds were rinsed with distilled water for 3 minutes. This process repeated for 3 times prior to plantation.

Stream sand was sanitized in oven under 151°C for 20 hours, after cooling period; all pots were filled with 2 kg of stream sand. Sunflower and sorghum seeds were placed on the top of the sand, afterwards inoculated with previously propagulated *Glomus mosseae* &

Glomus intraradices cultures added to the system along with mentioned organisms' spores. After that, seeds and AMFs covered with 1 kg of stream sand.

With initial 5% moisture of the sanitized stream sand, and 600 ml of distilled water used for irrigation; moisture inside the pots were adjusted to 23~25 %, and regularly 50 ml distilled water was added every 2 days in order to maintain humidity at intended levels(20-23% field capacity).

In order to provide enough nutrients for plant growth, nutrient solution based on Modified Strullu-Romand medium (Table 3.1) was prepared. 20 ml of the nutrient solution was added to each pot every 2 weeks.

Elements	Concentration, µM
N(NO ₃ -)	3800
N(NH ₄ ⁺)	180
Р	30
K	1650
Са	1520
Mg	3000
S	3013
Cl	870
Na	20
Fe	20
Mn	11
Zn	1
В	30
Мо	0.22
Cu	0.96

Table 3.1. Composition of MSR medium [111].

Heavy metal (Cu) dosage over 6 week period for potted sunflower and sorghum plants were 30 ml, 50 ml, 50 ml, 20 ml, 25 ml, and 25 ml for each concentration. Heavy metal additions done once a week, and the total dosage of heavy metal per pot was 200 ml for all concentrations. Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.5 display the growth of the sunflower plants over time in the experimental setup.


Figure 3.4. Sunflower (Hornet) plants' growth over time (3rd & 4th Week).



Figure 3.5. Sunflower (Hornet) plants' growth over time (5th & 6th Week)

For every combination of plant – AMF in three different heavy metal concentrations, 3 parallel pots were maintained. Breakdown of the total number of the pots in greenhouse was; Sunflower – *G. mosseae:* 3 parallels for 3 heavy metal concentrations; 9 pots, Sunflower – *G. intraradices:* 3 parallels for 3 heavy metal concentrations; 9 pots, Sorghum – *G. mosseae:* 3 parallels for 3 heavy metal concentrations; 9 pots, Sorghum – *G. intraradices:* 3 parallels for 3 heavy metal concentrations; 9 pots, In total; 36 pots were maintained for this phytoremediation experiment. Number of plants were; for sunflower planted pots: 5 plants/pot, for sorghum planted pots: 10 plants/pot.

3.5. Harvesting and Sampling

8 weeks after plantation of the seeds, sunflower and sorghum plants were harvested. Whereas, roots and shoots were sampled and collected separately.

During harvesting, samples from roots of each pot were taken for AMF symbiosis observation via microscope and stored in 70% ethanol solution at 4°C for long time conservation. Sand samples taken from each pot for Glomalin (GRSP) determination and were packaged separately at -20°C. Harvested shoots and roots of the sorghum and sunflower plants (fresh biomass) were subjected to drying process at 60°C for 4 days in the oven, and then transferred to desiccator. Dried samples from shoots and roots were grinded in stand blender until formation of powder state and packed accordingly.

3.6. Digestion Method

To determine the capacity of heavy metal uptake by examined plants, 0.25 g of powdered sample was taken and digested with nitric acid $-(HNO_3)$ (65%), hydrogen peroxide $-(H_2O_2)$ (35%), and distilled water. Ratio of the digestion media was fixed at, HNO₃: H₂O₂: dwater (9:1:1). Digestion procedure was adapted from USEPA, Method 3052 [112].

The procedure specifications for digestion was; Pressure: 800 psi, Power: 1600 watt, Temperature: 180°C, Ramp Time: 5.25 minutes, and Hold Time: 11 minutes, Machinery: MARS 6 Microwave Accelerated Reaction System Instrument (CEM), USA. Measurement of Cu in digestion was carried out with Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS) method, (Standard Methods 3111B) with Perkin Elmer AAnalyst 300.

3.7 Determination of Mycorrhization

In order to determine the level of mycorrhization in root samples preserved in 70% ethanol solution at 4°C prior to root staining. Root staining process carried out in following order; each root sample carefully packed in tulle and kept in 10% KOH solution (w/v) for 4 hours in water bath at 60°C. This procedure used for cleaning of the roots and extracts tannins from root samples and dissolved in KOH solution. Afterwards, roots were contacted with 1% HCl solution for 3 minutes and rinsed carefully. 0.05% (w/v) trypan blue in lactoglycerol (1:1:1 lactic acid, glycerol and water) for 4 days [113]. After staining process is completed all root samples handled carefully and aligned on glass slides horizontally for microscope examination (Figure 3.6).

For this analysis; Microscope Axio Observer.Z1, with EC Plan-Neofluar 10x/0.3 objective, and AxioCam MR5 camera was used.



Figure 3.6. Prepared slides for determination of mycorrhization

3.8 Glomalin Related Soil Protein (GRSP) Measurement

GRSP levels of the soil samples were evaluated by Bradford method. Extraction of reactive soil protein was determined by Rillig et al., [11], and final measurement method was carried out according to the Wright and Upadhyaya [103]. For this combined method, 1 gram of soil sample (below roots) from each set was treated with 50 mM citric acid, and autoclaved at 121°C for 60 minutes. Then, centrifugation of samples was performed at 8000 rpm for 30 minutes. Afterwards, all samples were filtered through Whatman No.4 filter paper.

Calibration curve for the analysis of GRSP, Bovine Serum Albumin (A4503 SIGMA), with concentrations of 50, 150, 200, 250 mg with citric acid, and Bradford Reagent (B6916 SIGMA), with distilled water (Ratio: 1:4) was prepared and filtered through Whatman No.4 filter paper. 20 μ l of prepared Bradford Reagent was added to each Bovine Serum Albumin [11].

All samples, including calibration solutions were analyzed at 595 nm with UV-160A Spectrophotometer, Shimadzu.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Germination Tests

To determine seeds' germination potential and related features via screening of the suitable seeds, five different species of sunflower were tested in petri dish units. According to germination rates; Hornet has shown quite positive germination characters (Table 4.1). Hence, further examination carried out for understanding the behaviour of Hornet species with presence of AMF under the influence of heavy metals. Evaluation of the results concludes that, among all species of sunflower, Hornet variety showed the best performance for germination and seedling development characteristics, therefore, it was the most suitable variety of sunflower for further phytoremediation experiment.

Sunflower	Germinated Seeds / Total Seeds						
Туре	1d	2d	3d	4d	5d		
Tunca -1	4/18	15/18	17/18	17/18	17/18		
Tunca -2	5/20	19/20	20/20	20/20	20/20		
09 TRÇ/004 -1	0/15	3/16	5/16	7/16	8/16		
09 TRÇ/004 -2	0/15	3/15	3/15	4/15	6/15		
Hornet – 1	9/16	16/16	16/16	16/16	16/16		
Hornet – 2	9/16	16/16	16/16	16/16	16/16		
Bosfora - 1	1/15	11/15	11/15	12/15	14/15		
Bosfora - 2	2/15	6/15	9/15	11/15	11/15		
10 TRÇ/027 - 1	0/15	0/15	1/15	3/15	6/15		
10 TRÇ/027 - 2	1/16	4/16	4/16	7/16	10/16		

Table 4.1. Germination ratio of different sunflower varieties

After the selection of the suitable variety among selected species, plants' seeds were cultivated under heavy metal stress, and the contamination levels of Cu for experimental procedure were selected as 100ppm, 500ppm, and 1000ppm. In order to observe the interactive effects of AMF and heavy metal, seeds were inoculated with two different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) species: *Glomus mosseae* and *Glomus intraradices*.

Monitored germination characteristics include: germination ratio, radicle length, and hypocotyl lengths of the seedlings plants. These parameters were measured daily for 7 days and gathered data is given in Table 4.2.

According to the results, Sunflower – Hornet showed a strong and significant ability in seed germination up to 100% under heavy metal concentrations (100, 500 and 1000ppm CuSO₄) within three days. Meanwhile, sorghum seeds showed relatively low germination rate, with a total 91.1% after same period of time. Data exhibited an elicitation of a heavy metal resistance in the both seed species without showing toxic effects. In terms of phytoremediation, successful germination and seedlings' development performance are essentially fundamental parameters for the selection of the plant species for application and re-vegetation of contaminated soils.

Radicle growth, as a major germination characteristic for root development among other growth factors for seed was measured during this experiment. Sorghum plants were significantly reacted to stress caused by two different sources; (1) Heavy metals in the soil inhibited the growth rate, while (2) activity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi brought another stress to the plants. After 7 days from plantation of the seeds, average radicle lengths of the control group; 100, 500, 1000ppm CuSO₄ were 25.75 mm, 2.25mm, and 1.75 mm, respectively. Increasing heavy metal concentrations inarguably had a negative effect on root development. Seeds inoculated with *Glomus mosseae* for the same Cu concentrations had average radicle lengths of 6 mm for 100 ppm Cu, 3.92 mm for 500 ppm, and for 1000 ppm radicle lengths were less than 1.5 mm after 7 days, (Figure 4.1). As for hypocotyls of the sorghum plants, observed heavy metal and AMF effects were parallel to radicle growth (Figure 4.2). It can be deducted that, prior to forming a symbiosis with AMF, plants' defence mechanism was active and it limited the intensity of root system and the effects can be clearly observed in root development.

Plants-Treatment-Concentrations		Rate	of Ger	minated	l Seeds ((%)		R	adicle Le	ngth (Avg	g.) mm.			H	Iypocotyl	Length (A	Avg.) mm	
	1d	2d	3d	4d	6d	7d	1d	2d	3d	4d	6d	7d	1d	2d	3d	4d	6d	7d
Sorg. Cont. 100 ppm	66.7	73.3	90	90	90	96.7	-	-	22.8	28.5	25.75	25.25	-	-	2.5	10.75	45.25	52.5
Sorg. Cont. 500 ppm	60	76.7	90	96.7	96.7	96.7	-	-	9	4	4.25	2.25	-	-	8	16.5	25.5	31
Sorg. Cont. 1000 ppm	80	86.7	86.7	90	93.3	93.3	-	-	2	3	2.25	1.75	-	-	12.3	26.75	16.5	18.25
Sorg. Glo. 100 ppm -1	30	86.7	93.3	96.7	96.7	96.7	-	-	3	4.75	4.75	5.75	-	-	3.25	8	11.25	10.75
Sorg. Glo. 100 ppm -2	13.3	50.0	86.7	86.7	86.7	86.7	-	-	2.5	7	6.25	6.75	-	-	3.75	9.25	14.5	15.25
Sorg. Glo. 100 ppm -3	33.3	43.3	90	90	93.3	96.7	-	-	3	6.5	6	5.5	-	-	3.75	7.5	11.75	11
Sorg. Glo. 500 ppm -1	10	73.3	90	90	90	90	-	-	1.5<	4	1.5<	3.75	-	-	1.5<	5.25	1.5<	6.5
Sorg. Glo. 500 ppm -2	10	66.7	86.7	86.7	86.7	90	-	-	1.5<	3.75	3	3.75	-	-	1.5<	7.5	9.25	9
Sorg. Glo. 500 ppm -3	3.3	30.0	96.7	96.7	96.7	100	-	-	1.5<	4	3.75	4.25	-	-	1.5<	5	13.25	12.75
Sorg. Glo. 1000 ppm -1	10	53.3	96.7	100	100	100	-	-	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	-	-	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<
Sorg. Glo. 1000 ppm - 2	10	46.7	96.7	96.7	96.7	100	-	-	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	-	-	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<
Sorg. Glo. 1000 ppm -3	17	40	90	93.3	96.7	96.7	-	-	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	-	-	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<	1.5<
Hornet Cont. 100 ppm	70	100	100	100	100	100	-	5.75	10	23.25	54.75	57	-	-	12.5	22.75	47.75	57.25
Hornet Cont. 500 ppm	80	100	100	100	100	100	-	9	10.75	18.5	20.25	21.25	-	-	16.25	28.25	53.5	56
Hornet Cont. 1000 ppm	80	100	100	100	100	100	-	4.5	8.75	12.75	18.75	21	-	-	16.5	20.75	37.5	44.5
Hornet Glo. 100 ppm	80	90	100	100	100	100	-	6.75	15.5	33.5	85.25	103.75	-	-	19.25	26.5	95.75	113.75
Hornet Glo. 500 ppm	60	100	100	100	100	100	-	5	10.25	12.5	21.25	22.5	-	-	15.75	23.5	63.5	67.75
Hornet Glo. 1000 ppm	50	90	100	100	100	100	-	5.75	7.75	9.5	10.5	10.75	-	-	11.75	15.5	25.75	37.5

Table 4.2. Results of germination and seedlings characters for selected varieties under the application of different Cu concentrations.

*Sorg. – Sorghum, Cont. – Control, Glo. – Glomus mosseae



Figure 4.1. Comparison of radicle length (mm) of sorghum plants.



Figure 4.2. Comparison of hypocotyl length (mm) of sorghum plants.

Sunflower plants' ability to germinate and grow under heavy metal was considerably better than it was for sorghum plants. However, heavy metal levels in the soil undoubtedly showed negative effect on the growth rate for both plants; despite sunflower plants demonstrated adequately succeed. The activity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, was also different in sunflower than sorghum plants, this may be due to plants' ability to cope with heavy metal stress, leading to accelerated symbiosis formation. Sunflower - Hornet plants' radicle lengths under 100 ppm Cu contamination were promoted 103.75 mm long in the seeds inoculated with *Glomus mosseae* while this was just 57 mm for control seeds after 7 days of growth period. Correspondingly, the average hypocotyl lengths were 113.75 mm and 57.25 mm. Therefore, at 100 ppm Cu the presence of AMF promotes almost doubled growth value in the radicle and hypocotyl lengths of sunflower plants (Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4).

On the other hand, increased levels of Cu concentrations had adverse effect on both sunflower plants and activity of the AMF – *Glomus mosseae*. Experiments for cultivation with both 500 ppm, and 1000 ppm of Cu concentration showed that, *Glomus mosseae* can still operate and support sunflower plants at 500 ppm Cu concentration in terms of plant growth when compared to the control group; however, at 1000 ppm Cu concentration;non-mycorrhizal control group had 50% longer radicles and 18% longer hypocotyls than AMF inoculated seed group. This result suggests that, as explained above, when heavy metal stress overlaps with another organisms' (AMF) activity, it decelerates the growth speed of the plant. Although, at 1000 ppm, plants did not show effects of toxicity, thus, development of the plant may need longer duration before reaching an anticipated size.



Figure 4.3. Comparison of radicle length (mm) of sunflower plants.



Figure 4.4. Comparison of hypocotyl length (mm) of sunflower plants.

In order to test the suggested hypothesis, *Sorghum bicolor*, grown on three different levels of Cu were monitored for a month. Plants were grown and morphological measurement applied at the end of every week; monitoring parameters included total number of plants per pot, number of leaves, and average plant height. Obtained data indicated that, there was an adaptation period of 2 weeks for sorghum plants with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. During this adaptation period, all plants' development seemed to be slowed down but it was continuous for both control and AMF inoculated plants. After 3rd week, plants associated with *Glomus mosseae*, had started to grow more rapidly in terms of leaves (number and size), and increasing plant height, along with higher number of healthy plants. Extensive data of the monitoring is presented in Table 4.3.

	Number		Number	of leaves	5	Average Plant Height (cm)					
Pot	of Plants	1st week	2nd week	3rd week	4th week	1st week	2nd week	3rd week	4th week		
Sorg. Cont. 100 ppm	6	5 x 1 Leaf	4 x 2 Leaf 2 x 1 Leaf	5 x 2 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	3 x 3 Leaf 3 x 2 Leaf	1.9	2.5	3.7	4.1		
Sorg. Cont. 500 ppm	4	1 x 1 Leaf	1 x 2 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	2 x 2 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	1 x 3 Leaf 1 x 2 Leaf	2.2	3.7	5.3	6.5		
Sorg. Cont. 1000 ppm	3	-	-	2 x 1 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	2 x 2 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	1<	1.4	1.6	1.8		
Sorg. Glo. 100 ppm	7	1 x 1 Leaf	3 x 2 Leaf 2 x 1 Leaf	2 x 2 Leaf 2 x 1 Leaf	3 x 3 Leaf 4 x 2 Leaf	2	3.3	6.5	11.8		
Sorg. Glo. 500 ppm	8	-	2 x 2 Leaf 5 x 1 Leaf	5 x 2 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	3 x 3 Leaf 4 x 2 Leaf	1.7	3.0	5.7	7.5		
Sorg. Glo. 1000 ppm	6	-	-	3 x 2 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	2 x 3 Leaf 1 x 1 Leaf	1<	1.1	6.1	10.5		

Table 4.3. Potted sorghum plants' growth over time.

4.2. Experimental Units for Phytoremediation Study

In section 4.1, seed germination and AMF interactions' effect during germination period were highlighted, therefore, in main phytoremediation study effect of continuous discharge of heavy metals – which is similar to discharge frequency from industrial processes – were investigated during 8 week period of phytoremediation.

	Cu			Plant Height,	cm (Average)		
Plant - AMF	ppm	3rd Week	4th Week	5th Week	6th Week	7th Week	8th Week
	100	11.50	14.67	23.33	27.33	31.17	35.33
Hornet - Control	500	10.33	14.33	23.00	29.67	35.50	40.33
	1000	6.83	9.83	15.67	23.67	30.67	34.00
	100	8.17	13.00	23.33	25.67	30.17	34.00
Hornet - G. mosseae	100	9.17	12.50	19.83	27.33	32.83	36.67
	100	10.17	13.17	22.67	25.67	30.17	33.00
	AVG - 100	9.17	12.89	21.94	26.22	31.06	34.56
	500	8.17	10.83	21.17	23.33	27.50	31.00
Hornet - G. mosseae	500	8.00	10.83	22.33	26.00	32.33	36.00
	500	8.17	10.50	19.67	28.33	35.00	37.00
	AVG - 500	8.11	10.72	21.06	25.89	31.61	34.67
	1000	8.50	11.67	18.00	26.33	28.50	31.00
Hornet - G. mosseae	1000	9.00	12.17	15.33	26.67	32.33	34.67
	1000	8.50	11.67	18.00	26.33	30.67	33.67
	AVG - 1000	8.67	11.83	17.11	26.44	30.50	33.11
	100	10.17	14.67	20.00	25.67	30.67	34.00
Hornet - G. intraradices	100	9.00	12.17	20.33	29.67	34.00	38.33
	100	9.83	13.83	18.50	31.67	33.83	38.67
	AVG - 100	9.67	13.56	19.61	29.00	32.83	37.00
	500	10.17	13.67	18.00	28.33	29.50	35.67
Hornet - G. intraradices	500	10.33	13.83	19.67	28.67	33.67	37.67
	500	10.00	12.67	17.00	29.00	34.67	39.00
	AVG - 500	10.17	13.39	18.22	28.67	32.61	37.44
	1000	8.50	11.17	18.00	24.33	26.83	30.67
Hornet - G. intraradices	1000	6.83	9.50	20.33	24.33	28.17	36.67
	1000	9.33	12.50	19.17	27.67	33.50	36.00
	AVG - 1000	8.22	11.06	19.17	25.44	29.50	34.44

Table 4.4. Plant height in Sunflower (Hornet) during phytoremediation study.

Phytoremediation study on both sorghum and sunflowers plants were carried out for entire eight weeks. Plant growth trend showed a similar pattern in both sunflower and sorghum plants either in control or in symbioses with AMF species. Continuous heavy metal discharge into the systems' adverse effect on plant growth was obvious. Plant developments for the experimentation were presented in Table 4.4 and Table 4.5.

	Cu			Plant Height,	cm (Average)		
Plant - AMF	ppm	3rd Week	4th Week	5th Week	6th Week	7th Week	8th Week
	100	6.00	7.33	9.67	11.00	11.67	12.67
Sorghum - Control	500	5.67	7.00	8.00	9.00	10.00	11.33
	1000	4.67	5.33	7.00	8.00	9.00	10.33
	100	4.67	4.67	7.00	7.67	9.00	9.67
Sorghum - G. mosseae	100	5.33	5.33	7.33	7.83	9.00	10.67
	100	4.33	5.33	6.00	6.50	7.00	8.00
	AVG - 100	4.78	5.11	6.78	7.33	8.33	9.44
	500	5.00	5.67	4.67	5.83	6.00	7.33
Sorghum - G. mosseae	500	5.33	5.67	6.33	7.50	10.67	12.67
	500	5.33	5.00	7.00	7.67	8.67	11.00
	AVG - 500	5.22	5.44	6.00	7.00	8.44	10.33
	1000	5.00	5.67	7.00	7.50	9.33	10.00
Sorghum - G. mosseae	1000	5.00	5.67	6.67	7.50	7.67	8.67
	1000	4.67	6.33	7.33	8.33	9.00	10.00
	AVG - 1000	4.89	5.89	7.00	7.78	8.67	9.56
	100	5.67	6.00	6.33	9.00	10.67	11.33
Sorghum - G. intraradices	100	4.67	6.33	6.67	7.33	9.33	11.00
	100	5.67	6.00	6.00	6.50	9.67	11.00
	AVG - 100	5.33	6.11	6.33	7.61	9.89	11.11
	500	4.67	5.67	5.67	6.33	7.67	8.67
Sorghum - G. intraradices	500	5.00	6.00	6.00	6.67	9.00	11.33
	500	5.00	5.00	5.00	6.00	7.67	8.33
	AVG - 500	4.89	5.56	5.56	6.33	8.11	9.44
	1000	5.33	5.33	5.67	6.67	10.33	11.67
Sorghum - G. intraradices	1000	5.33	5.00	5.00	6.00	9.67	10.33
	1000	6.00	6.00	6.00	6.67	9.33	10.67
	AVG - 1000	5.56	5.44	5.56	6.44	9.78	10.89

Table 4.5. Sorghum plant height changes over phytoremediation duration

By loading the system with heavy metals continuously, the stress on AMFs prevented their activity to enhance nutritional uptake of the plants, hence, keeping the symbiosis' primary objective to deal with the pollution rather than plain plant cultivation (nonmycorrhizal).

Plants' harvested fresh weights after 8 weeks showed that; for sorghum plants fresh weights did not fluctuated significantly at 100 ppm and 500 ppm, however, at 1000 ppm Cu concentration inoculated sorghum plants with *Glomus mosseae* and *Glomus intraradices* showed better growth performance. Sunflower plants, on the other hand, did not show any significant differences in terms of produced fresh weight under same conditions and duration. Fresh weights of the plants are presented in Figure 4.5 and Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.5. Fresh weights of the harvested sorghum plants.



Figure 4.6. Fresh weights of the harvested sunflower plants.

4.2.1. Heavy Metal Uptake of the Plants

Uptake of heavy metals from soil was specifically higher on the roots than shoots of both plants. Determination of heavy metal concentration on the shoots of the sunflower plants suggested that the translocation of Cu to shoots was limited, although arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi seemed to increase this translocation. However, differences were not significant (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7. Cu translocation to sunflower shoots.

Indisputably, root mycorrhization significantly increased the Cu uptake on the plants exposed to different Cu concentrations (Figure 4.8). *Glomus mosseae* in symbioses with the roots of sunflower enhanced the uptake of Cu by 56.89% - 182.26% on plant roots. Whereas, *Glomus intraradices* had increased the root Cu concentrations by 44.97% - 96.14%. Fresh weight of shoots and roots as well as their Cu concentrations of sunflower plants are given in Table 4.6.



Figure 4.8. Cu stabilization on sunflower roots.

Plant - AMF	Cu Concentrations (ppm)	Fresh Weight Root (g)	Root - Cu (mg/kg)	Fresh Weight - Shoot (g)	Shoot - Cu (mg/kg)
II. and the	100	17.3	18.70	14.30	10.42
Hornet -	500	17.5	57.81	16.40	9.50
Control	1000	21.9	88.52	13.60	12.07
TT (100	7.5	23.44	14.80	7.62
Hornet G. mosseae	100	15	34.93	17.00	8.03
	100	13.9	29.67	14.00	8.25
Hornet G. mosseae	500	6.7	180.74	12.50	8.06
	500	18.7	292.81	14.40	10.61
	500	17.1	78.51	16.60	11.17
TT (1000	10.6	224.84	15.20	12.89
Hornet G mossaga	1000	18.8	299.37	15.00	9.02
0. mosseue	1000	17.8	225.36	13.60	17.48
TT (100	15.9	29.58	15.80	6.39
Hornet G intraradices	100	12.3	30.33	17.00	8.82
G. minardaices	100	12.7	21.43	16.10	7.75
TT .	500	6	119.95	14.60	9.13
Hornet G intraradices	500	8.7	156.64	15.60	9.82
G. intraraalces	500	23.9	63.58	15.00	6.74
II a we ad	1000	13.8	81.83	14.70	11.79
Hornet G intraradices	1000	7.5	174.68	14.60	14.42
G. miraraalles	1000	13.1	113.84	12.40	8.87

Table 4.6. Phytoremediation experiments data for sunflower plants.

As for sorghum plants' performance under the same conditions, were similar to sunflower plants on root stabilization, the most significant difference was *Glomus mosseae's* effect of increased translocation of heavy metal to sorghum shoots at 1000 ppm. The shoot concentrations of sorghum plants in control, *G. intraradices*, and *G. mosseae* group were; 5.8 mg/kg, 6.39 mg/kg, and 12.98 mg/kg, respectively. Therefore, at 1000 ppm *G. intraradices* increased the copper translocation to shoots by 10.17%; while *G. mosseae* raised the effectiveness by 123.79% (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9. Cu translocation to sorghum shoots.

Copper stabilization on the roots of sorghum plants (Figure 4.10) were also influenced by AMF presence along with increasing concentration of heavy metals in the soil. At 1000 ppm, *G. mosseae* increased the Cu stabilization on the roots by 146.89%; while this value was 40.98% for *G. intraradices*, when compared with the control plants' roots (Table 4.7).



Figure 4.10. Cu stabilization on sorghum roots.

Plant - AMF	Cu Concentrations (ppm)	Fresh Weight Root (g)	Root - Cu (mg/kg)	Fresh Weight - Shoot (g)	Shoot - Cu (mg/kg)
G 1	100	38.5	12.71	6.00	4.94
Sorghum -	500	39.1	14.21	5.40	8.90
Control	1000	32	29.96	3.10	5.80
G 1	100	25.9	15.20	3.70	5.55
G mossege	100	45.3	10.08	4.30	5.20
G. mossede	100	38.9	10.91	2.70	6.39
C 1	500	20.1	16.54	2.10	5.46
Sorghum	500	41.9	18.33	5.80	4.92
0. mosseue	500	30.3	19.16	3.40	8.18
C 1	1000	43.7	75.84	6.80	15.13
G mossege	1000	11.2	66.16	3.80	11.16
0. mosseue	1000	19.8	79.90	3.80	12.64
Conchange	100	26	12.90	6.30	4.35
G intraradices	100	35.8	11.28	6.80	5.34
G. minaraalees	100	22.2	10.62	4.30	5.96
C 1	500	18.7	23.14	3.80	4.21
G intraradices	500	23.7	19.79	5.80	5.14
G. inituraulces	500	37.4	21.27	3.40	2.42
Sanahum	1000	33.2	43.90	7.00	7.97
G intraradices	1000	55.6	32.13	7.60	4.99
G. miraraultes	1000	91.1	50.69	8.10	6.22

Table 4.7. Phytoremediation experiments data for sorghum plants.

Table 4.8 indicates clear difference of Cu values in rhizosphere and non-rhizosphere measured after heavy metal application at the end of the experiment. Plant and microbes were able to absorb certain amount of Cu and partially immobilized fractions of soil Cu in the root area. As the young rhizosphere could not develop root area much after 8 weeks of growth. Initial expectation from these 8 week-plants in association with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi was to achieve heavy metal immobilization along with plant uptake; and plant systems immobilized 70% of Cu in 100 ppm, 55% in 500 ppm, and 32% of total Cu available in 1000 ppm in the rhizosphere area.

Plant - AMF	Treatment	Cu (mg) Stabilized on Roots	Cu (mg) Accumulated on Shoots	Total Cu (mg) Plant Uptake	Total Cu (mg) in Sand (Rhizosphere)	Total Cu (mg/pot)
Hornet - Control	100	0,32	0,15	0,47	3,28	3,75
Hornet - G. mos.	100	0,37	0,12	0,49	2,34	2,83
Hornet - G. int.	100	0,37	0,12	0,49	2,94	3,43
Sorghum - Control	100	0,49	0,03	0,52	2,05	2,57
Sorghum - G. mos.	100	0,42	0,02	0,44	3,99	4,43
Sorghum - G. int.	100	0,33	0,03	0,36	3,76	4,12
Hornet - Control	500	1,01	0,16	1,17	8,19	9,35
Hornet - G. mos.	500	2,67	0,15	2,82	12,81	15,63
Hornet - G. int.	500	1,20	0,13	1,33	12,17	13,50
Sorghum - Control	500	0,56	0,05	0,60	10,97	11,57
Sorghum - G. mos.	500	0,56	0,03	0,59	8,66	9,25
Sorghum - G. int.	500	0,57	0,02	0,59	8,66	9,24
Hornet - Control	1000	1,94	0,16	2,10	11,74	13,84
Hornet - G. mos.	1000	4,01	0,19	4,20	12,40	16,60
Hornet - G. int.	1000	1,31	0,16	1,47	15,77	17,24
Sorghum - Control	1000	0,96	0,02	0,98	13,07	14,05
Sorghum - G. mos.	1000	1,88	0,06	1,94	14,15	16,09
Sorghum - G. int.	1000	2,63	0,05	2,68	10,18	12,86

Table 4.8. Comparison of Cu mass balance through rhizosphere and non-rhizosphere area and transition to the plant's compartments.

4.2.2. Mycorrhization on Roots

Determination of root mycorrhization was carried out under microscopic evaluation of root samples. Every plant's root colonization (mycorrhization) rate with both AMF species was examined by using 20 root samples and staining application. Highest mycorrhization rate was observed in Sunflower symbioses by *G. mosseae* species with 69.8% root colonization. Observation was also included the determination of average vesicle counts, total mycorrhiza count, and mycorrhizal colonization data was presented in Table 4.9. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi were spread though the roots and interaction between AMF and plant roots were visible (Figure 4.13 and Figure 4.14)

Plant - AMF	Cu (ppm)	Vesicle Count	Total Mycorrhiza Count	Average Mycorrhization (%)
Sunf G. mosseae	100	6	34	53.45
Sunf G. mosseae	500	5	33	53.7
Sunf G. mosseae	1000	10	64	59.8
Sunf. G. intraradices	100	5	28	49
Sunf. G. intraradices	500	5	31	51.9
Sunf. G. intraradices	1000	6	35	56.65
Sorg G. mosseae	100	2	12	46.15
Sorg G. mosseae	500	2	13	52.75
Sorg G. mosseae	1000	2	16	56.2
Sorg. G. intraradices	100	2	12	49.3
Sorg. G. intraradices	500	1	11	46.75
Sorg. G. intraradices	1000	2	11	46.2

Table 4.9. Mycorrhization data of each plant - AMF combination.

Root mycorrhizal symbiosis in sunflowers and sorghum through heavy metal – Cu – application showed a significant difference in terms of phytoremediation behaviour in sunflowers plants. Counted mycorrhiza number of *G. mosseae* and *G. intraradices* in sunflower roots was higher than sorghum plants (Table 4.9), hence, under the specified conditions sunflower plants symbiosis potential with AMF is favourable.

Correlation between mycorrhizal activity and root symbiosis was determined to be increasing parallel with escalating with heavy metal concentration available in soils. This is a promising defence mechanism, which was shown by plants under conditions of heavy metal stress for survival. Sunflower plants mycorrhization increased accordingly and best rate achieved at 1000 ppm with *G. mosseae* (Figure 4.11). The standard error for root mycorrhization rate was approximately $\pm 0.2\%$.



Figure 4.11. Comparison of mycorrhization rate of sunflower roots.

Sorghum; however, showed different mycorrhization levels with *G. mosseae* and *G. intraradices* under heavy metal stress. Increasing heavy metal concentrations resulted in better symbiosis rate for *G. mosseae*, and best ratio for sorghum was at 1000 ppm with *G. mosseae*; furthermore, root symbiosis with *G. intraradices* decreased when available heavy metal concentration increased. The lowest performance for mycorrhization in selected plants and species was Sorghum – *G. intraradices* combination at 100 ppm with 46.2%. This mycorrhization rate could be enough for improving the efficiency of phytoremediation; but, under selected conditions, it was the least favorable option. Comparison of sorghum plants' root mycorrhization is presented in Figure 4.12.



Figure 4.12. Comparison of mycorrhization rate of sorghum roots.



Figure 4.13. Spore, hyphal, and vesicular forms of G. mosseae in sunflower roots.



Figure 4.14. Spore, hyphal, and vesicular forms of G. intraradices in sorghum roots.

In Sunflower plants; different levels of heavy metals affects root Cu accumulation, and root mycorrhization significantly by P < 0.01. Accumulation of Cu in roots was higher in sunflowers inoculated by *G. mosseae* treated by 500 and 1000 ppm Cu. As well as different heavy metal concentration levels correlated with root mycorrhization rate showed significant difference by P < 0.01. The analysis data showed significant different between AMF species in terms of root mycorrhization rate under different heavy metal concentrations (500 and 100) by P < 0.05.

Table 4.10 shows the concentrations of the Cu measured in the roots and shoots of the plants of *S. bicolor* and *H. annuus*, which were collected at the moment of the highest biomass yield. The roots showed higher values of Cu accumulation than observed in the shoots. As a consequence, the translocation factor (shoot/root calculated in terms of concentration), which is typically >1 in the hyperaccumulator species, was <1 for all the Cu contents of sunflower and sorghum plants. Cu toxicity to plants is associated with the Cu level of 150-400 mg/kg in soil [114].

In this setup the soil contained approximately 300 mg of Cu per pot(3 kg)for 1000 ppm; hence, maximum Cu concentration available in soil was 100 mg/kg to prevent toxicity. The concentration of Cu measured in the roots of *S. bicolor* and *H. annuus* was, on average, about 28.32mg/kg and 111.74 mg/kg; respectively.

While Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) did show significant effect of heavy metal concentration levels in translocation of Cu by P < 0.05; this parameter was not significant in sunflowers shoot. However, Cu accumulation in rhizosphere was highly significant in both sorghum and sunflowers in terms of heavy metal levels. Meaning Cu was translocated in both plants' shoots along with the increased heavy metal concentrations. Root mycorrhization rate showed different reactions to heavy metals available in soils. Whereas, different heavy metal concentrations caused varieties in symbioses performance. *G. mosseae* demonstrated better resilience to harsh conditions. Our morphological observation evidently indicates that *G. mosseae* achieved highest level of colonization by 69.8% mycorrhization rate.

The impact of mycorrhizal species on the Cu offtake under different levels of heavy metal was also investigated. Findings indicated that increased Cu concentration in irrigation solution; Cu translocation increased with mycorrhization affect in Sorghum shoots by P < 0.05 but it was non-significant in Sunflowers which was inoculated by both Glomus species. Glomus species were preformed differently in both plant roots in terms of heavy metal uptake as data showed that there was different impact on Cu uptake between Glomus species in sorghum plants P < 0.01 and for sunflowers up to P < 0.05 were significant. *G. mosseae* acted better in to uptake Cu in both plants through three different heavy metal concentrations (100, 500 and 1000 ppm). Interactive effects between AMF species and different heavy metal concentrations showed in Table 4.10.

Plant - AMF	Treatment (Cu, ppm)	Plant Fresh Weight (g)	SD	Shoot Cu Concentration (mg/kg)	SD	Root Cu Concentration (mg/kg)	SD	Mycorrhization on Roots (%)
Sunf Control	100	14.30	0.22	10.42	2.44	18.70	0.33	N/A
Sunf Control	500	16.40	0.58	9.50	1.85	57.81	0.43	N/A
Sunf Control	1000	13.60	0.71	12.07	0.98	88.52	2.42	N/A
Sunf G. mosseae	100	15.27	0.69	7.97	0.14	29.34	2.57	53.45
Sunf G. mosseae	500	14.50	0.92	9.95	0.74	184.02	47.94	53.7
Sunf G. mosseae	1000	14.60	0.39	13.13	1.89	249.86	19.18	59.8
Sunf G. intraradices	100	16.30	0.28	7.65	0.55	27.11	2.21	49
Sunf G. intraradices	500	15.07	0.23	8.56	0.72	113.39	20.96	51.9
Sunf G. intraradices	1000	13.90	0.58	11.69	1.24	123.45	21.09	56.65
HMlevels		NS		NS		**		**
AMF		NS		*		**		*
HM x AMF		NS		*		**		*
Sorg Control	100	6.00	0.61	4.94	1.88	12.71	1.11	N/A
Sorg Control	500	5.40	0.63	8.90	0.74	14.21	0.85	N/A
Sorg Control	1000	3.10	0.11	5.80	0.22	29.96	0.99	N/A
Sorg G. mosseae	100	3.57	0.36	5.71	0.27	12.06	1.23	46.15
Sorg G. mosseae	500	3.77	0.84	6.19	0.78	18.01	0.60	52.75
Sorg G. mosseae	1000	4.80	0.77	12.98	0.90	73.97	3.16	56.2
Sorg G. intraradices	100	5.80	0.59	5.22	0.36	11.60	0.52	49.3
Sorg G. intraradices	500	4.33	0.58	3.92	0.62	21.40	0.75	46.75
Sorg G. intraradices	1000	7.57	0.25	6.39	0.67	42.24	4.20	46.2
HMlevels		NS		*		**		**
AMF		*		**		**		*
HM x AMF		*		*		**		*

Table 4.10. Relation of Cu concentration on roots and shoots of the plants with mycorrhization

Data are the means of three replicates _ standard error. Significance levels of heavy metals (HM), mycorrhizal species (AMF) and the interaction HM _ AMF are shown: *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01

4.2.3. Glomalin Related Soil Protein (GRSP)

The glycol-protein, glomalin, is produced with arbuscular mycorrhizal activity under critical conditions. The stress source for the production of glomalin in this scenario was related to heavy metal – Cu- stimulation. GRSP levels in soil samples gathered from root zone (below plant roots) of sunflower and sorghum plants are presented in Figure 4.15 and Figure 4.16.

Glomalin levels of sunflower and sorghum planted soils were escalated with increased heavy metal concentration in the soil body. Produced glomalin levels of *Glomus mosseae*, which had root mycorrhization rate were between 53.45% - 59.8% for sunflower, were 5.4 mg/kg at 100 ppm Cu, 7.6 mg/kg, at 500 ppm, and 9.7 mg/kg at 1000 ppm Cu, respectively. Results represent that glomalin was proportionally produced with increased stress caused by heavy metals. However, *Glomus intraradices* ' mycorrhization with sunflower roots generated more glomalin at 500 ppm Cu. Beneficial behavior of symbiosis, determined to be under more stress at that concentration since glomalin production is a result of heavy metal intensity (Figure 4.15).



Figure 4.15. GRSP concentrations of sunflower planted soils.

Glomus intraradices, which had shown relatively low mycorrhization levels than *G. mosseae* on the plant roots, generated 6.55 mg/kg at 100 ppm Cu, 7.75 mg/kg at 500 ppm, and 8.1 mg/kg at 1000 ppm Cu, where mycorrhization rates were between 46.2% - 49.3% on sorghum roots. Linear increase in glomalin concentrations for *G. intraradices*– sorghum

is similar to *Glomus mosseae* – sunflower interaction. Correspondingly, at 500 ppm Cu concentration *Glomus mosseae's* symbiosis with sorghum plants' roots produced more glomalin. Therefore, different types AMF reacted differently depending on host plant in terms of glomalin generation (Figure 4.16).

Previous studies have shown that under suboptimal conditions for AMF hyphal growth, glomalin content increased. Using structural equation modeling [115], have inferred that a direct effect of glomalin on metal detoxification may be higher than the (residual) contribution of AMF hyphae.



Figure 4.16. GRSP concentrations of sorghum planted soils.

Humic compounds' extraction in Bradford assay may interfere with the GRSP content; yet, correlation between glomalin related soil protein (GRSP) content and total extracts is proportional. Hence, indicating a good comparison parameter in different types of soil [116]. Stabilization of Cu in non-mycorrhizal plant roots were increased reasonably with raised concentrations of available heavy metal in soil. Moreover, there was a positive correlation between soil glomalin and Cu (total and available fractions) content. Enhanced glomalin yield was observed in Sunflower – *G. mosseae*, and Sorghum – *G. intraradices* symbiosis with increased level of heavy metal stabilized in the roots. Comparison between mycorrhization, glomalin content, and root Cu concentrations was illustrated in Table 4.11.

Plant - AMF	Average Mycorrhization (%)	Glomalin (mg/kg)	Root Cu (mg/kg)
Sunf. Control 100	N/A	0.6	18.70
Sunf. Control 500	N/A	2.5	57.81
Sunf. Control 1000	N/A	0.9	88.52
Sunf. G. mos 100	53.45	5.4	29.34
Sunf. G. mos 500	53.7	7.6	184.02
Sunf. G. mos 1000	59.8	9.7	249.86
Sunf. G. int 100	49	7.4	27.11
Sunf. G. int 500	51.9	11.2	113.39
Sunf. G. int 1000	56.65	8.9	123.45
Sorg. Control 100	N/A	0.2	12.71
Sorg. Control 500	N/A	1.1	14.21
Sorg. Control 1000	N/A	0.1	29.96
Sorg. G. mos 100	46.15	6.55	18.96
Sorg. G. mos 500	52.75	10.75	21.04
Sorg. G. mos 1000	56.2	7.45	23.32
Sorg. G. int 100	49.3	6.15	21.11
Sorg. G. int 500	46.75	7.75	21.82
Sorg. G. int 1000	46.2	8.1	22.08

Table 4.11. Comparison of GRSP, mycorrhization, and stabilized Cu in roots.

The relation between glomalin content and heavy metal stabilization on plant roots could be a the result of a mechanism to improve the fungal habitat [107], perhaps in regard to high levels of potentially phytotoxic elements in soil nutrients (such as Fe and Al)[117], or to alleviate physical/spatial constraints for hyphal development [118].

High contents of glomalin along with high contents of heavy metals could be explained by the presumably low activity of microorganisms able to degrade glomalin under these extreme pollution conditions [119], and its recalcitrance in the soil [120]. Another "protection" effect of glomalin could be its iron binding [121], agreeing with previous studies in these soils that shown high content of this elements [122]. Given the recent finding of high homology between glomalin and heavy metals like Cu [97], which are stress-related proteins, it should not be neglected that a strong stress presented by high levels of heavy metals may cause over expression of this protein.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Plant-microbe interactions application for phytoremediation is a long-term remediation effort, and it requires screening of many suitable plants and beneficial specific microbes such as mycorrhizal fungi to reduce metal concentrations to acceptable levels. Time required for remediation is dependent on the type and extent of metal contamination and the duration of the growing season. However, the most important feature of the plants is the efficiency of metal removal. In this study; analysed number of sorghum plants were: 30 for every combination (180 plants in total), and sunflower plants: 15 for every combination (90 plants in total); hence, average of every data gathered from plants and pots are presented in the results. According to these results, the highest amounts of Cu removed by S. bicolor equated to only 20.75 mg/kg, 27.35 mg/kg, and 92.55 mg/kg through 100, 500 and 1000ppm Cu concentrations around the rhizosphere in symbioses with G. mosseae while the non-mycorrhizal sorghum was able to accumulate 17.67 mg/kg, 23.11 mg/kg, and 35.76 mg/kg by 100, 500 and 1000 ppm Cu. The offtake of sunflowers (H. annuus) had the same order of magnitude in terms of showing active Cu uptake in plants through the interactive with G. mosseae. Amount of Cu removed from soil by nonmycorrhizal sunflower plants were 29.12 mg/kg for 100 ppm, 67.30 mg/kg for 500 ppm, and 100.59 mg/kg for 1000 ppm; while, mycorrhizal plants uptake were 37.33 mg/kg, 193.97 mg/kg, 262.99 mg/kg at the end of 8 weeks phytoremediation duration, respectively.

Extracted amount of Cu was negligible in comparison to the magnitude in the soil by non-mycorrhizal sorghum and sunflower; therefore, under the experimental conditions, *S. bicolor* and *H. annuus* showed a very strong potential of stabilize Cu in their rhizosphere by accumulating this metal in the cell vacuoles. On the other hand, the experimental design did consider specific translocation in plants compartments to enhance the bioavailability of the metals.

Currently, phytoextraction is far from being considered a mature technology. It is difficult to predict when sufficient knowledge will be acquired about specific molecular and physiological aspects of phytoremediation for practical application. Neither the biomass crops, nor the hyperaccumulator plants have been studied deeply enough in field conditions.

Most of data published has been extrapolated from experiments performed under conditions that are not adequate to give results applicable for the future clean-up of contaminated areas. Among the few experiments dealing with the in situ performances of hyperaccumulators, it was observed that hyperaccumulator plants under certain conditions could not express their potential. Obtained data from this application shows a very interesting behaviour of interactive affects between indigenous mycorrhizal species natives in terms of heavy metal remediation on Turkish climate conditions.

However, the fundamental microorganisms like mycorrhizal of plants useful for phytoremediation should be expressed in a wide range of environmental conditions to transform phytoremediation from a natural phenomenon to a sustainable technology for soil clean-up.

A strong positive correlation between glomalin content and Cu (total and available fractions) were found. Results from this experiment agree with such previous observations, and suggest that the HM sequestration in glomalin may be another mechanism by which AMF could improve environmental conditions for their development. In this study, at 1000 ppm Cu concentration the contribution of mycorrhizal activity of *G. mosseae* increased heavy metal stabilization on sunflower roots by 182.26% and for sorghum roots by 146.89%; while *G. intraradices* had increase this performance by 96.14% and 40.98%, respectively. The root mycorrhization rates were observed as; Sunflower - *G. mosseae*: 59.8%, Sunflower – *G. intraradices*: 56.65%, Sorghum – *G. mosseae*: 56.2%, and Sorghum – *G. intraradices*: 46.2%. It probably is the highest value reported under field conditions to date. Although the methodology used for glomalin extraction and quantification may overestimate its content in soil [123], In this study, highly significant correlations were found between root mycorrhization rate, Cu uptake and glomalin generation in roots. At 1000 ppm Cu concentration, for non-mycorrhizal sunflower plants'

root Cu concentration was 88.52 mg/kg; while, mycorrhization of *G. mosseae* was 59.8%, GRSP concentration was 9.7 mg/kg and the root Cu concentration was raised to 249.86 mg/kg (182.26% increase). For *G. intraradices smycorrhization rate was 56.65%*, GRSP concentration was 8.9 mg/kg and root Cu concentration was enhanced by 39.46% (to 123.45 mg/kg).

This effect is ecologically very important, since even under extreme conditions the deposition of large amounts of glomalin could promote water-stable aggregates formation/stabilization, helping plant to produce root cells in terms of especially when heavy metal accumulation is mostly superficial as a result of metal smelter activity or mine tailing [122].

As mentioned earlier, phytoremediation is a relatively recent field of research and application. Currently most research is limited to laboratory and greenhouse scale studies and only a few studies have been conducted to test the efficiency of phytoremediation in actual field. Results in actual field can be different from those at laboratory or greenhouse conditions [124], because field is a real world where different factors simultaneously play their role. Factors that may affect phytoremediation in the field include variations in temperature, nutrients, precipitation and moisture, plant pathogens and herbivory, uneven distribution of contaminants, soil type, soil pH, and soil structure [125]. Phytoremediation efficiency of different plants for specific target heavy metals has to be tested in field conditions in order to realize the feasibility of this technology for commercialization. After identification of desirable traits in natural hyperaccumulators, such traits can be selected either by conventional breeding techniques or by using new methods of hybridization such as protoplast fusion or by the manipulation of gene expression in transgenic [126]. In spite of the many challenges, phytoremediation seems as a green remediation technology with an expected great potential. Research in phytoremediation is truly interdisciplinary in nature and requires background knowledge in soil chemistry, plant biology, ecology and soil microbiology as well as environmental engineering. In view of the current trends of integration of scientific knowledge worldwide, it is hoped that many challenging questions about commercial application of phytoremediation will be answered in future.

In comparison with different engineering techniques and expensive current remediation projects of heavy metal from contaminated soil and water bodies, the processes are time consuming and plausible environmental outcomes are potentially harmful to the ecosystem. Since heavy metals cannot degrade with natural processes, effective cleanup requires their immobilization, reduction or transformation to non-toxic forms. Phytotechnology involves efficient use of plants to remove, detoxify or immobilize environmental contaminants in a growth matrix (soil, water or sediments) through the natural, biological, chemical or physical activities or processes of the plants. A brief review on phytoremediation of heavy metals and its effect on plants have been compiled to provide a wide applicability of phytoremediation.

Finally, from a biotechnological perspective, further studies on the characterization of metallophytes and their associated AMF communities are needed, to select the most suitable ecotypes method in site remediation in Turkish urban areas and other soils subjected to the effect of mining activities.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Phytoremediation research is seriously should be projected interdisciplinary in polluted environment;

2. Researchers from different backgrounds should be welcomed and encouraged to utilize their skills and expertise in this field.

3. Existing natural resources like plant and microorganism diversities should be sight seen for hyperaccumulation of various heavy metals to find new effective metal hyperaccumulators.

4. Harvested biomass after phytoremediation should be handled carefully (Bioaccumulated contaminants).

5. Biomass gathered on the field can be utilized as an energy source via incineration/anaerobic digestion or can be used as base material for biodiesel production.

6. Recycling/storage options of residues for valuable and toxic substances should be applied.

7. More phytoremediation studies should be conducted in the field and analysis keeping in mind the very green nature of the technology.

8. For optimum efficiency; surface area and plant number per square meter should be calculated according to the duration of the phytoremediation, climate conditions, and specified plants' root development behaviour.

9. More studies should be conducted to better understand interactions among the four players in the rhizosphere that is among metals, soil, microbes and plant roots.

10. Advancement in spectroscopic and chromatographic techniques should be exploited to improve understanding of the fate of metal ions in plant tissues, which in turn will improve understanding of metal hyperaccumulation and tolerance in plants.

REFERENCES

1. Cai, L., Xu Z., Bao, P., He, M., Dou, L., Chen, L., Zhou, Y., Zhu, Y., 2015. Multivariate and geostatistical analyses of the spatial distribution and source of arsenic and heavy metals in the agricultural soils in Shunde, southeast China, Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 148, 189–195.

2. "Progress in management of contaminated sites (CSI 015/LSI 003)", 2014. European Environment Agency.

3. Jelusic, M., Lestan, D., 2015. Remediation and reclamation of soils heavily contaminated with toxic metals as a substrate for greening with ornamental plants and grasses, Chemosphere, S0045-6535(14)01475-1. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.

4. Lia, X., Liua, L., Wanga, Y., Luoa, G., Chena, X., Yangc, X., Hallc, M.H.P., Guob, R., Wangd, H., Cuib, J., Heb, X., 2013. Heavy metal contamination of urban soil in an old industrial city (Shenyang) in northeast China, Geoderma, 192, 50–58.

5. Xu, X., Zhao, Y., Zhao, X., Wang, Y., Deng, W., 2014. Sources of heavy metal pollution in agricultural soils of a industrializing area in Yangtze Delta of China, Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 108, 161-167.

6. Yao, Z., Li, J., Xie, H., Yu, C., 2012. Review on remediation technologies of soil contaminated by heavy metals, Procedia Environmental Sciences, 16, 722–729.

7. Baldantoni, D., Cicatelli, A., Bellino, A., Castiglione, S., 2014. Different behaviours in phytoremediation capacity of two heavy metal tolerant poplar clones in relation to iron and other trace elements, Journal of Environmental Management, 146, 94–99.

8. Lei, H., Hangshui, Y., Zhenxing, Y., Jianjun, T., Ligen, X., Xin, C., 2014. Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal phylogenetic groups differ in affecting host plants along heavy metal levels, Journal of Environmental Sciences, 26(10), 2034–2040.

9. Hammer E.C., Rillig, M.C., 2011. The influence of different stresses on glomalin levels in an Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus - Salinity increases glomalin content, PloS One 6(12): e28426.

10. Gadkar V., Rillig M.C., 2006. The Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal protein glomalin is a putative homolog of heat shock protein 60, FEMS Microbiology Letters, 263, 93–101.

11. Rillig, M., 2004. Arbuscular Mycorrhizae and terrestrial ecosystem processes, Ecology Letters, 7 (8), 740-754.

12. Gonzalez-Chavez M.C., Carrillo-Gonzalez, R., Wright, S.F., Nichols, K., 2004. The role of glomalin, a protein produced by Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi, in sequestering potentially toxic elements, Environmental Pollution, 130(3), 317-23.

13. Vodnik, D., Grcman, H., Macek, I., van Elteren, J.T., Kovacevic, M., 2008. The contribution of glomalin-related soil protein to Pb and Zn sequestration in polluted soil, Science of the Total Environment, 392(1), 130-136.

14. Kumar, N., Bauddh, K., Kumar, S., Dwivedi, N., Singh, D.P., Barman, S.C., 2013. Accumulation of metals in weed species grown on the soil contaminated with industrial waste and their phytoremediation potential, Ecological Engineering, 61(A), 491–495.

15. Van Eerd, L.L., Hoagland, R. E., Zablotowicz, R. M., Hall, J. C., 2003. Pesticide metabolism in plants and microorganisms, Weed Science, 51, 472-495.

16. Khalvati, M.A., Dincer, I., 2013. Environmental impact of soil microorganisms on global change, causes, impacts and solutions to global warming, 233-250.

Wang, P., Kinraide, T. B., Smolders, E., Zhou, D., Menzies, N. W., Thakali, S., Xia,
W., Hao, X., Peijnenburg, W. J.G.M., Kopittke, P. M., 2013. An electrostatic model predicting Cu and Ni toxicity to microbial processes in soils, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 57, 720-730.
18. Thakali, S., Allen, H.E., Di Toro, D.M., Ponizovsky, A.A., Rooney, C.P., Zhao, F.J., McGrath , S.P., Criel, P., Van Eeckhout, H., Janssen, C.R., Oorts, K., Smolders, E., 2006. Terrestrial biotic ligand model. 2. application to Ni and Cu toxicities to plants, invertebrates, and microbes in soil, Environmental Science and Technology, 40, 7094-7100.

19. Lukkari, T., Aatsinki, M., Va[°]isa[°]nen, A., Haimi, J., 2005. Toxicity of copper and zinc assessed with three different earthworm tests, Applied Soil Ecology, 30, 133–146.

20. Youn-Joo A., 2006. Assessment of comparative toxicities of lead and copper using plant assay, Chemosphere, 62, 1359–1365.

21. Xu J., Yang, L., Wang, Z., Dong, G., Huang, J., Wang, Y., 2006. Toxicity of copper on rice growth and accumulation of copper in rice grain in copper contaminated soil, Chemosphere, 62, 602–607.

22. Debelius B., Forja, J. M., DelValls, A., Lubian, L. M., 2009. Toxicity and bioaccumulation of copper and lead in five marine microalgae", Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 72, 1503–1513.

23. Song L., Vijver, M. G., Peijnenburg, W.J.G.M., 2015. Comparative toxicity of copper nanoparticles across three lemnaceae species, Science of the Total Environment, 518–519, 217–224.

24. Clearwatera, S. J., Faragb, A.M., Meyera, J.S., 2002. Bioavailability and toxicity of dietborne copper and zinc to fish, Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C 132, 269–313.

Monteiro, S. M., dos Santos, N.M.S., Calejo, M., Fontainhas-Fernandes, A., Sousac,
M., 2009. Copper toxicity in gills of the teleost fish, oreochromisniloticus: effects in apoptosis induction and cell proliferation, Aquatic Toxicology, 94, 219–228.

26. Dusek, P., Roos, P.M., Litwin, T., Schneider, S.A., Flaten, T.P., Aaseth, J., 2015. The neurotoxicity of iron, copper and manganese in parkinson's and wilson's diseases, Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 31, 193–203.

27. Strausak, D., Mercer, J.F., Dieter, H.H., Stremmel, W., Multhaup, G., 2001. Copper in disorders with neurological symptoms: alzheimer's, menkes, and wilson diseases, Brain Research Bulletin, 55, 175–85.

28. Kaler, S.G., 2014. Neurodevelopment and brain growth in classic menkes disease is influenced by age and symptomatology at initiation of copper treatment, Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 28, 427–430.

29. Aspli, K.T., Flaten, T.P., Roos, P.M., Holmøy, T., Skogholt, J.H., Aaseth, J., 2015. Iron and copper in progressive demyelination – new lessons from Skogholt's disease, Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 31, 183–187.

30. Church, S.J., Begley, P., Kureishy, N., McHarg, S., Bishop, P.N., Bechtold, D.A., Unwin, R.D., Cooper, G.J.S., 2015. Deficient copper concentrations in dried-defatted hepatic tissue fromob/ob mice: A potential model for study of defective copper regulation in metabolic liver disease, Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 460, 549-554.

31. Alabi, O.A., Bakare, A.A., Xu, X., Li, B., Zhang, Y., Huo, X., 2012. Comparative evaluation of environmental contamination and dna damage induced by electronic-waste in Nigeria and China, Science of the Total Environment, 423, 62–72.

32. Ghaderian, S.M., Ravandi, A.A.G., 2012. Accumulation of copper and other heavy metals by plants growing on sarcheshmeh copper mining area, Iran, Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 123, 25–32.

33. Karim, Z., Qureshi, B.A., Mumtaz, M., 2015, Geochemical baseline determination and pollution assessment of heavy metals in urban soils of Karachi, Pakistan, Ecological Indicators, 48, 358–364.

34. Malkoc, S., Yazici, B., Koparal, A.S., 2010. Assessment of the levels of heavy metal pollution in roadside soils of Eskisehir, Turkey, Environmental Toxicology Chemistry, 29, 2720–2725.

35. Skrbic, B., Mladenovic, N.D., 2012. Distribution of heavy elements in urban and rural surface soils: the Novi Sad city and the surrounding settlements, Serbia, Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 185(1), 457–471.

36. Ruyters, S., Salaets, P., Oorts, K., Smolders, E., 2013. Copper toxicity in soils under established vineyards in Europe: A survey, Science of the Total Environment, 443, 470–477.

37. Manta, D.S., Angelone, M., Belanca, A., Neri, R., Sprovieri, M., 2002. Heavy metals in urban soils: A case study from the city of Palermo (Sicily), Italy. Science of Total Environment, 300, 229–243.

 Rizo, O.D., Morell, D.F., Lopez, J.O.A., Munoz, J.L.B., Rodriguez, K.D.A, Pino, N.L.,
Spatial distribution and contamination assessment of heavy metals in urban topsoils from Las Tunas City, Cuba, Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 91, 29–35.

39. Aresta, M., Dibenedetto, A., Fragale, C., Giannoccaro, P., Pastore, C., Zammiello, D., Ferragina, C., 2008. Thermal desorption of polychlorobiphenyls from contaminated soils and their hydrodechlorination using Pd- and Rh-supported catalysts, Chemosphere, 70(6), 1052-1058.

40. Pape A., Switzer, C., McCosh, N., Knapp, C.W., 2015. Impacts of thermal and smouldering remediation on plant growth and soil ecology, Geoderma, 243–244, 1–9.

41. MK Tech Solutions, In situ thermal destruction (ITSD), 2002. http://www.mktechsolutions.com/ISTD.htm, Accessed: 01.08.2015. 42. Acar, Y.B., Alshawabkeh, A.N., 1993. Principles of electrokinetic remediation, Environmental Science & Technology, 27, 2638-2647.

43. Virkutyt, J., Sillanpää, M., Latostenmaa, P., 2002. Electrokinetic soil remediation-critical overview, Science of Total Environment, 289(1-3), 97-121.

44. Hassan, I., Mohamedelhassan, E., Yanful, K.E., 2015. Solar powered electrokinetic remediation of Cu polluted soil using a novel anode configuration, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2015.02.216.

45. Rosestolato, D., Bagatin, R., Ferro, S., 2015. electrokinetic remediation of soils polluted by heavy metals (Mercury in particular), Chemical Engineering, 264, 16–23.

46. Sun, T.R., Ottosen, L.M., 2012. Effects of pulse current on energy consumption and removal of heavy metals during electrodialytic soil remediatio", Electrochimica Acta, 86, 28–35.

47. Contin, M., Mondini, C., Leita, L., Nobili, M.D., 2007. Enhanced soil toxic metal fixation in Iron (hydr)oxides by redox cycles, Geoderma, 140, 164–175.

48. Yang, L., Donahoe, R.J., Redwine, J.C., 2007. In situ chemical fixation of arseniccontaminated soils: An experimental study, Science of the Total Environment, 387, 28–4.

49. Hong, K.J., Tokunaga, S., Kajiuchi, T., 2002. Evaluation of remediation process with plant-derived biosurfactant for recovery of heavy metals from contaminated soils, Chemosphere, 49(4), 379-87.

50. U.S. EPA, 2012. Contaminated site clean-up information (CLU-IN), Nanotechnology: Applications for Environmental Remediation.

https://clu-

in.org/techfocus/default.focus/sec/nanotechnology:_applications_for_environmental_reme diation/cat/application, Accessed Date: 01.08.2015 51. Kreyling, W.G., Semmler-behnke, M., Möller, W., 2006. Health implications of nanoparticles, Journal of Nanoparticle Research, 8, 543-562.

52. Fumagalli, P., Commoli, R., Ferre, C., Ghiani, A., Gentili, R., Citterio, S., 2014. The rotation of white lupin (*Lupinusalbus* L.) with metal-accumulating plant crops: A strategy to increase the benefits of soil phytoremediation, Journal of Environmental Management, 145, 35–42.

53. Hosh, M.G., Singh, S.P., 2005. A review on phytoremediation of heavy metals and utilization of it's by products, Asian Journal on Energy and Environment, 6(04), 214-231.

54. Ellington, J. J., Wolfe, N.L., 2001. Phytoremediation: Using plants to cleanup contaminated soil, groundwater, and wastewater, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, First Baltic Symposium on Environmental Chemistry, Tartu, Estonia, September 26-29.

55. Tangahu, B.V., Abdullah, S.R.S., Basri, H., Idris, M., Anuar, N., Mukhlisin, M., 2011. A review on heavy metals (As, Pb, and Hg) uptake by plants through phytoremediation, International Journal of Chemical Engineering, ID 939161.

56. Reichman, S.M., 2002. The responses of plants to metal toxicity: A review focusing on copper, manganese and zinc, Australian Minerals & Energy Environment Foundation, Melbourne, Australia, Paper No.14ISBN 1-876205-13-X.

57. Berti, W.R., Cunningham, S.D., 2000. Phytostabilization of metals: Phytoremediation of toxic metals using plants to clean up the environment, Raskins, I., Ensley, B.D. (Eds), Wiley-Interscience, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 71-88.

58. Chaudhry, T.M., Hayes, W.J, Khan, A.G., Khoo, C.S., 1998. Phytoremediation – Focusing on accumulator plants that remediate metal contaminated soils, Australian Journal of Ecotoxicology, 4, 37-51.

59. Henry J.R., 2000. An overview of the phytoremediation of lead and mercury, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, National Network of Environmental Management Studies (NNEMS).

60. Sharma, S., 2012. Review article bioremediation: features, strategies and applications, Asian Journal of Pharmacy and Life Science, 2(2).

61. Lelie, D.V.D., Schwitzguébel, J.P., Glass, D.J., Vangronsveld, J., Baker, A., 2001. Assessing phytoremediation's progress, Environmental Science and Technology, 35(21), 446A–452A.

62. Willscher, S., Mirgorodsky, D., Jablonski L., Oliver D., Merten D., Büchel G., Wittig, J., Werner, P., 2013. Field scale phytoremediation experiments on a heavy metal and uranium contaminated site, and further utilization of the plant residues", Hydrometallurgy, 131-132, 46-53.

63. Brooks, R.R., Lee, J., Reeves, R.D., Jaffré, T., 1977. Detection of nickeliferous rocks by analysis of herbarium specimens of indicator plants, Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 7, 49–57.

64. Rascio, N., 1977. Metal accumulation by some plants growing on zinc-mine deposits, Oikos, 29, 250–253.

65. Reeves, R.D., 2006. Hyperaccumulation of trace elements by plants", phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils, Eds: Morel, J.L., Echevarria, G., Goncharova, N., NATO Science Series: IV: Earth and Environmental Sciences, Springer, 1–25, NY.

66. Chaney, R.L., Malik, M., Li, Y.M., Brown, S.L., Angle, J.S., Baker, A.J.M., 1997. Phytoremediation of soil metals, Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 8, 279-284.

67. Robinson, B., Kim, N., Marchetti, M., Moni, C., Schroeter, L., Dijssel, C.V.D., Milne, G., Clothier, B., Arsenic hyperaccumulation by aquatic macrophytes in the Taupo volcanic zone, New Zealand, Environmental and Experimental Botany, 58(1-3), 206–215.

68. Karimi, N., Ghaderian, S.M., Raab, A., Feldmann, J., Meharg, A.A., 2009. An arsenic-accumulating, hypertolerant brassica, *Isatis cappadocica*", New Phytologyst, 184., 41–47.

69. Macnair, M.R., 2003. The hyperaccumulation of metals by plants, Advances in Botanical Research, 40, 63–105.

70. Faucon, M-P., NgoyShutcha, M., Meerts, P., 2007. Revisiting copper and cobalt concentrations in supposed hyperaccumulators from SC Africa: Influence of washing and metal concentrations in soil, Plant and Soil, 301, 29–36.

71. Faucon, M-P., Colinet, G., Mahy, G., 2009. Soil influence on Cu and Co uptake and plant size in the cuprophytes *Crepidor hopal* on perenni sand *C. tenuis* (Scrophulariaceae) in SC Africa, Plant and Soil, 317, 201–212.

72. Roosens, N., Verbruggen, N., Meerts, P., Ximenez-Embun, P., Smith, J.A.C., 2003. Natural variation in cadmium tolerance and its relationship to metal hyperaccumulation for seven populations of *Thlaspi caerulescens* from western Europe", Plant Cell and Environment, 26, 1657–1672.

73. Deng, D.M., Shu, W.S., Zhang, J., Zou, H.L., Lin, Z., Ye, Z.H., Wong, M.H., "Zinc and Cadmium accumulation and tolerance in populations of *Sedum alfredii*", Environmental Pollution, 147, 381–386.

74. Milner, M.J., Kochian, L.V., 2008. Investigating heavy-metal hyperaccumulation using *Thlaspi caerulescens* as a model system, Annals of Botany, 102, 3–13.

75. Frérot, H., Faucon, M.P., Willems, G., Godé, C., Courseaux, A., Darracq, A., Verbruggen, N., Saumitou-Laprade, P., 2010. Genetic architecture of zinc hyperaccumulation in *Arabidopsis halleri*: the essential role of QTLx environment interactions, New Phytologist, 187, 355–367.

76. Verbruggen, N., Hermans, C., Schat, H., 2009. Molecular mechanisms of metal hyperaccumulation in plants, New Phytologyst, 181, 759–776.

77. Lasat, M.M., Pence, N.S., Garvin, D.F., Abbs, S.D., Kochian, L.V., 2000. Molecular physiology of zinc transport in the Zn hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*, Journal of Experimental Botany, 51, 71–79.

79. Yang, X., Li, T., Yang, J., He, Z., Lu, L., Meng, F., 2006. Zinc compartmentation in root, transport into xylem, and adsorption into leaf cells in the hyperaccumulating species of *Sedum alfredii Hance*, Planta, 224, 185–195.

79. Poynton, C.Y., Huang, J.W.W., Blaylock, M.J., Kochian, L.V., Ellass, M.P., 2004. Mechanisms of arsenic hyperaccumulation in Pteris species: Root as influx and translocation, Planta, 219, 1080–1088.

80. Haydon, M.J., Cobbett, C.S., 2007. Transporters of ligands for essential metal ions in plants, New Phytologist, 174, 499–506.

81. Callahan, D.L., Baker, A.J.M., Kolev, S.D., Wedd, A.G., 2006. Metal ion ligands in hyperaccumulating plants, Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry, 11, 2–12.

82. Boyd, R.S., Martens, S.N., 1992. The Raison d'être for metal hyperaccumulation by plants, the vegetation of ultramafic (Serpentine) soils, Eds: Baker, A.J.M., Proctor, J., Reeves, R.D., Intercept Limited, Andover, 279–289.

83. Cunningham, S.D., Berti, W.R., Huang, J.W., 1995. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils, Trends in Biotechnology, 13, 393–397.

84. Ebbs, S.D., Lasat, M.M., Brady, D.J., Cornish, J., Gordon, R., Kochian, L.V., 1997. Heavy metals in the environment: Phytoextraction of cadmium and zinc from a contaminated soil, Journal of Environmental Quality, 26, 1424–1430. 85. Brown, S.L., Chaney, R.L., Angle, J.S., Baker, A.J.M., 1995. Zinc and cadmium uptake of *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown in nutrient solution, Soil Science Society of America Journal, 59, 125–133.

86. Robinson, B.H., Leblanc, M., Petit, D., 1998. The potential of *Thlaspi caerulescens* for phytoremediation of contaminated soils, Plant and Soil, 203, 47–56.

87. Krämer, U., Cotter-Howells, J.D., Charnock, J.N., Baker, A.J.M., Smith, J.A.C., 1996. Free histidine as a metal chelator in plants that accumulate nickel, Nature, 379, 635–638.

88. Ma, L.Q., Komar, K.M., Tu, C., Zhang, W., Cai, Y., 2001. A fern that hyperaccumulates arsenic, Nature, 409, 579.

89. McGrath, S.P., Zhao, F.J., 2003. Phytoextraction of metals and metalloids from contaminated soils, Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 14, 277–282.

90. Tamura, H., Honda, M., Sato, T., Kamachi, H., 2005. Pb hyperaccumulation and tolerance in common buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum Moench*), Journal of Plant Research, 118, 355–359.

91. Brundrett, M.C., 2002. Co-evoloution of roots of mycorrhizas of land plants, New Phytologist, 154, 275-304.

92. Khan, A.G., 2006. Mycorrhizoremediation—an enhanced form of phytoremediation", Journal of Zhejiang University Science B, 7(7), 503–514.

93. Khalvati, M.A., Hu, Y., Mozafar, A., Schmidhalter, U., 2005. Quantification of water uptake by mycorrhizal hyphae and its significance for leaf growth, water relations and gas exchange of barley subjected to drought stress, Plant Biology, 7, 706-712.

94. Zhanbei, L., 2008. Soil microbial and Arbuscular Mycorrhizal communuties in afforsted ecosystems of the Nebraska National Forest, ETD collection for University of Nebraska - Lincoln Paper AAI3308324, University of Nebraska.

95. Schwitzguébel, J.P., Comino, E., Plata, N., Khalvati, M.A., 2011. Is phytoremediation a sustainable and reliable approach to clean-up contaminated water and soil in alpine countries?, Environmental Science and Pollution Research (ESPR), 18-6, 842-856.

96. Barea, J. M., Azcon-Aguilar, C., Azcon, R., 1997. Interactions between mycorrhizal fungi and rhizosphere microorganisms within the context of sustainable soil–plant systems, Eds: Gange, A. C., Brown, V.K., Multitrophic Interactions in Terrestrial Systems, Blackwell Science, Cambridge, 65–77.

97. Cornejo, P., Meiera, S., Borie, G., Rillig, M.C., Borie, F., 2008. Glomalin-Related Soil Protein in a Mediterranean ecosystem affected by a copper smelter and its contribution to Cu and Zn sequestration, Science of the Total Environment, 406(1-2), 154-160.

98. Forgy, D., 2012. Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi can benefit heavy metal tolerance and phytoremediation, Journal of National Resources and Life Sciences Education, 41, 23–26.

99. Lanfranco, L., Bolchi, A., Ros, E.C., Ottonello, S., Bonfante, P., 2002. Differential expression of a metallothionein gene during the presymbiotic versus the symbiotic phase of an Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus, Universita` di Torino and Istituto per la Protezionedelle Piante-Sezione di Torino, Dipartimento di BiologiaVegetale.

100. Khalvati, M.A., Bartha, B., Schroeder, P., 2010. Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal association on growth yield and detoxify xenobiotic of barley under drought stress, Journal of Soils and Sediments, 10, 54-64.

101. Solouki, T., Khalvati, M.A., Miladi, M., Zekavat, B., 2011. State-of-the-art chemical analysis of xenobiotics and residues in plant based products, Ed: Schroeder, P., Organic Xenobiotics and Plants: from Mode of Action to Ecophysiology, 8(3), 261-306, Springer-Verlag Berlin, New York.

102. Wright, S., Upadhyaya A., 1996. Extraction of an abundant and unusual protein from soil and comparison with hyphal protein of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi, Soil Science, 161, 575-586.

103. Wright, S., Upadhyaya, A., 1998, A survey of soils for aggregate stability and glomalin, a glycoprotein produced by hyphae of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi, Plant and Soil, 198, 97-107.

104. Nichols, K., 2003. Characterization of glomalin, a glycoprotein produced by Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi, Doctor of Philosophy Thesis, University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland, 285.

105. Nichols, K.A., Wright, S.F., 2006. Carbon and nitrogen in operationally-defined soil organic matter pools, Biology and Fertility of Soils, 43, 215-220.

106. Purin, S., Rillig, M.C., 2007. The Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal protein glomalin: limitations, progress, and a new hypothesis for its function, Pedobiologia, 51, 123-130.

107. Rillig, M.C., Caldwell, B.A., Wösten, H.A.B., Sollins, P., 2007. Role of proteins in soil carbon and nitrogen storage: controls on persistence, Biogeochemistry, 85, 25-44.

108. Driver, J.D., Holben, W.E., Rillig, M.C., 2005. Characterization of glomalin as a hyphal wall component of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 37, 101-106.

109. Rillig, M.C., Mummey, D.L., 2006. Mycorrhizas and soil structure, New Phytologist, 171, 41-53.

110. Chern, E.C., Tsai, D.W., Ogunseitan, O.A., 2007. Deposition of glomalin-related soil protein and sequestered toxic metals into watersheds, Environmental Science and Technology, 41, 3566-3572.

111. Fortin, J.A., Bécard, G., Declerck, S., Dalpé, Y., St-Arnaud, M., Coughan, A.P., Piché, Y., 2002. Arbuscular Mycorrhiza on root-organ cultures, Canadian Journal of Botany, 80, 1-20.

112. USEPA, 1996. Method 3052, Microwave assisted acid digestion of siliceous and organically based matrices, United States Environmental Protection Agency.

113. Phillips, J.M., Hayman, D.S., 1970. Improved procedures for clearing roots and staining parasitic on vesicular-Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi for rapid assassment of infection, Transactions of British Mycological Society, 55, 157-160.

114. Adriano, D.C., 2001. Trace elements in terrestrial environments biogeochemistry, bioavailability, and risks of metals, Springer.

115. Rillig, M.C., Wright, S.F., Eviner, V., 2002. The role of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and glomalin in soil aggregation: comparing effects of five plant species, Plant and Soil, 238, 325–333.

116. Jorge-Arauho, P., Quiquampoix, H., Matumato-Pintro, T., Staunton, S., 2015. Glomalin-related soil protein in French temperate forest soils: interference in the bradford assay caused by co-extracted humic substances, European Journal of Soil Science, 66, 311–319.

117. Lovelock C.E., Feller, I.C., McKee, K.L., Engelbrecht, B.M.J., Ball, M.C., 2004. The effect of nutrient enrichment on growth, photosynthesis and hydraulic conductance of dwarf mangroves in Panama, Functional Ecology, 18, 25–33.

118. Rillig, M.C., Steinberg, P.D., 2002. Glomalin production by an Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus: a mechanism of habitat modification, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 34, 1371–1374.

119. Dai, A., Trenberth, K.E., Qian, T., 2004. A global dataset of palmer drought severity index for 1870–2002: Relationship with soil moisture and effects of surface warming, Journal of hydrometeorology, 5, 1117-1130.

120. Steinberg, P.D., Rillig, M.C., 2003. Differential decomposition of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal hyphae and glomalin, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 35, 191–194.

121. Rillig, M.C., Wright, S.F., Nichols, K.A., Schmidt, W.F., Torn, M.S., 2001. Large contribution of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi to soil carbon pools in tropical forest soils, Plant and Soil, 233, 167–177.

122. Ginocchio, R., Baker, A., 2004. Metallophytes in Latin America: A remarkable biological and genetic resource scarcely known and studied in the region, Revista Chilena de Historia Natural, 77, 185-194,.

123. Rosier, C.L., Hoye, A.T., Rillig, M.C., 2006. Glomalin-related soil protein: assessment of current detection and quantification tools, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 38 (8), 2205–2211.

124. Ji, P., Sun, T., Song, Y., Ackland, M.L., Liu, Y., 2011. Strategies for enhancing the phytoremediation of cadmium-contaminated agricultural soils by *Solanum nigrum L.*, Environmental Pollution, 159, 762–768.

125. Vangronsveld, J., Herzig, R., Weyens, N., Boulet, J., Adriaensen, K., Ruttens, A., Thewys, T., Vassilev, A., Meers, E., Nehnevajova, E., Van der Lelie, D., Mench, M., 2009. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils and groundwater: lessons from the field, Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 16, 765–794.

126. Pollard, A.J., Powell, K.D., Harper, F.A., Smith, J.A.C, 2002. The genetic basis of metal hyperaccumulation in plants, Critical Reviews in Plant Science, 21(6), 539–566.